STATEMENT OF OPERATING CONDITIONS OF ENSTOR KATY STORAGE AND TRANSPORTATION, L.P. FILED WITH THE

THE FEDERAL ENERGY REGULATORY COMMISSION MAY 4, 2020

eTariff Information

Tariff Submitter: Enstor Katy Storage and Transportation, L.P.

FERC Tariff Program Name: FERC NGPA Gas Tariff

Tariff Title: Katy Operating Statement Tariff Record Effective Date: May 4, 2020

Tariff Record Title: Enstor Katy SOC Baseline Submission Option Code: A

Other Information: Baseline Filing

ENSTOR KATY STORAGE AND TRANSPORTATION, L.P. STATEMENT OF OPERATING CONDITIONS

TABLE OF CONTENTS

		Page
1.0	STATEMENT OF RATES	1
2.0	OPERATING STATEMENT	2
3.0	DEFINITIONS	2
4.0	SERVICES	12
5.0	CONFIRMATIONS	14
6.0	NOMINATIONS	17
7.0	PRIORITY OF SERVICE	19
8.0	INTERRUPTION OF SERVICE	20
9.0	TENDER OF RECEIPTS AND DELIVERIES	22
10.0	QUALITY	24
11.0	ODORIZATION	25
12.0	METHOD OF MEASUREMENT	25
13.0	BALANCING OF QUANTITIES	25
14.0	INVENTORY MANAGEMENT	25
15.0	FEES FOR SERVICES	28
16.0	FUEL REIMBURSEMENT	28
17.0	TAXES	28
18.0	BILLING AND PAYMENT	29
19.0	EVIDENCE OF CREDITWORTHINESS AND SECURITY; RIGH	T OF SET-OFF
20.0	TERMINATION FOR DEFAULT	
21.0	FORCE MAJEURE	
22.0	SERVICE CONDITIONS	42
23.0	TITLE AND RISK OF LOSS	42
24.0	ADVERSE CLAIMS TO NATURAL GAS	43
25.0	INDEMNIFICATION	
26.0	LIMITATION OF LIABILITY	
27.0	WAIVERS AND NON-WAIVER OF FUTURE DEFAULT	
28.0	CHOICE OF LAW	45
29.0	LAWS AND REGULATIONS	45

30.0	ASSIGNMENT	
31.0	DESCRIPTIVE HEADINGS	45
Appen	dix "A" METHOD OF MEASUREMENT / MEASUREMENT EQUIPMENT	
Appen	dix "B" QUALITY REQUIREMENTS	

ENSTOR KATY STORAGE AND TRANSPORTATION, L.P.

1.0 STATEMENT OF RATES

<u>Service</u>	Rate
Firm Storage Service	Market Based
Firm Wheeling Service	Market-Based
No-Notice Service	Market-Based
Interruptible Storage Service	Market-Based
Interruptible Wheeling Service	Market-Based
Parking Service	Market-Based
Loaning Service	Market-Based

ENSTOR KATY STORAGE AND TRANSPORTATION, L.P. STATEMENT OF OPERATING CONDITIONS

2.0 OPERATING STATEMENT

- 2.1 This Statement of Operating Conditions ("Operating Statement") describes how ENSTOR Katy Storage and Transportation, L.P. ("Katy") shall provide the storage and related hub services referenced in Section 4.0 below pursuant to Section 284.123 of the regulations of the Federal Energy Regulatory Commission, 18 C.F.R. § 284.123. Katy reserves the right to not offer or commence any Service, or to discontinue any Interruptible Service if, in Katy's reasonable discretion, any impairment of Firm Service could result.
- 2.2 From time to time it may become necessary to update or revise this Operating Statement. Katy shall have the right to propose, file, and make effective with the FERC revisions to this Operating Statement for the purpose of changing the provisions hereof effective as to all Customers, except that Katy shall have no right to alter the rates or charges for Services rendered pursuant to an existing Transaction, except such alterations to the rates or charges that are specifically permitted pursuant to such Transaction.
- 2.3 Any capitalized term used herein or in any appendix attached hereto but not otherwise defined shall have the meaning given such term in Section 3.0 herein.

3.0 **DEFINITIONS**

- 3.1 "Affiliate" when used in relation to a particular corporation, limited liability company, partnership, proprietorship or other business entity, means a corporation, limited liability company, partnership, proprietorship or other business entity which directly or indirectly controls, is controlled by or is under a common control with that particular corporation, liability company, partnership, proprietorship or other business entity. For the purposes of this definition "control" means the direct or indirect right to elect or cause to be elected a majority of the directors of a corporation, or corresponding managing body for other forms of business entity, through the ownership of shares or other equity interests which carry full voting or operational control rights, as applicable, in all circumstances.
- 3.2 "Acceptable Credit Rating" means a Credit Rating of at least –BBB by S&P and Baa3 by Moody's. If a Customer is only rated by S&P or Moody's, then Katy may, in its reasonable discretion, waive its requirement for a rating from both S&P and Moody's. If a Customer's rating is a BBB- or Baa3 and the outlook is Negative, Katy may require further analysis.
- 3.3 "<u>Btu</u>" means one British Thermal Unit and is defined as the amount of heat required to raise the temperature of one (1) avoirdupois pound of pure water from fifty-nine degrees Fahrenheit (59° F) to sixty degrees Fahrenheit (60° F) at a constant pressure of fourteen and sixty-five hundredths pounds per square inch absolute (14.65 psia). Total Btus shall be determined by multiplying the total volume of Gas Delivered *times* the Gas Heating Value expressed in Btus per cubic foot of Gas adjusted on a dry basis.
- 3.4 "<u>Business Day</u>" means Monday through Friday, excluding Federal Banking Holidays (as determined by the Federal Reserve Board) in the United States.

- 3.5 "<u>Capacity Demand</u>" or "<u>CD</u>" means the maximum Quantity of Gas, as set forth in the relevant Confirmation, that Customer is permitted to have in storage at any time at the Katy Storage Facility.
- 3.6 "<u>Central Clock Time</u>" or "<u>CCT</u>" means central daylight time when daylight savings time is in effect and central standard time when daylight savings time is not in effect.
- 3.7 "Claim" or "Claims" means all claims (including, but not limited to, those for or related to personal injury, death, or property damage of any sort), damages, liabilities, losses, fines, penalties, causes of action of any kind, obligations (including, but not limited to, contractual liabilities), costs, judgments, interest and awards (including payment of reasonable attorneys' fees and costs of litigation), of any kind or character (except punitive or exemplary damages).
- 3.8 "Commodity Charge" means the fee which is to be paid on a Monthly basis and which is the product of (a) the applicable Commodity Rate for a Service *times* (b) the number of MMBtus of Gas (including any Fuel) Delivered by the Customer to Katy at the Receipt Point or Delivered by Katy to Customer at the Delivery Point during the relevant Month.
- 3.9 "<u>Commodity Rate</u>" means the Monthly rate per MMBtu for Service actually utilized by Customer in respect of a Transaction as agreed to by Katy and Customer.
- 3.10 "<u>Confirmation</u>" means an agreement by and between the Customer and Katy setting forth the terms of a Transaction that is provided by Katy, as allowed (or unrestricted) under either (i) RRC approval or (ii) Section 311 of the NGPA and that is effective in accordance with the Master Service Agreement and this Operating Statement.
- 3.11 "Corresponding Transaction" shall have the meaning set forth in Section 9.3.1.
- 3.12 "<u>Credit Support Provider</u>" means that Party, if any, providing a guarantee of the obligations of Customer under a Master Service Agreement in favor of Katy, as the beneficiary thereof, in a form acceptable to Katy in its reasonable judgment.
- 3.13 "Creditworthy" or "Creditworthiness" shall have meaning as ascribed in Section 19.3.1.
- 3.14 "<u>Current Value</u>" shall have the meaning ascribed to such term in Section 20.7 of the Operating Statement.
- 3.15 "<u>Customer</u>" means an individual or entity executing a Master Service Agreement with Katy and that holds lawful rights in and/or legal title to the Gas that is the subject of Services rendered under a Confirmation entered into pursuant to such Master Service Agreement.
- 3.16 "<u>Customer Gross Inventory</u>" means the sum of all Customer Inventories, taking into account all Transactions of Customer.
- 3.17 "<u>Customer Group</u>" means Customer, its partners and Affiliates, and the officers, directors, partners, shareholders, members, managers, employers, agents, representatives, and contractors and subcontractors (of every tier) of each of the foregoing.

- 3.18 "<u>Customer Inventory</u>" means, in respect of each separate Transaction, the Quantities of Gas held at the Katy Storage Facility for Customer's account, which Katy shall account for using recognized industry standards, which accounting shall be deemed conclusively correct absent manifest error.
- 3.19 "Customer Taxed Inventory" shall have the meaning set forth in Section 17.1.
- 3.20 "<u>Daily Reference Price</u>" means the midpoint price for "East-Houston-Katy Katy Reference Price" as reported in Platts Gas Daily (or any successor publication). If at any time the daily midpoint prices for the applicable reference points are not published in the manner previously described, then Katy shall provide notice ("Substitute Reference Price") thereof to Customer, in which event the Parties shall attempt to agree upon a Substitute Reference Price. The Substitute Reference Price shall then become the Daily Reference Price.
- 3.21 "<u>Default Quantity</u>," "<u>Defaulted Transaction</u>," and "<u>Default Notice</u>" shall each have the meaning as ascribed to each such term in Section 9.3.
- 3.22 "<u>Deliver</u>," "<u>Delivered</u>," or "<u>Delivery</u>" means the physical transfer of Gas to or from the Katy Storage Facility.
- 3.23 "<u>Delivery Default</u>" means a Party's unexcused failure during any Gas Day or Month of the Transaction Period to discharge its obligations, as specified in a Confirmation, to Deliver Gas to the other Party at the Receipt Point or the Delivery Point, as applicable.
- 3.24 "<u>Delivery Point</u>" means the point at which Katy Delivers Gas to Customer for Customer's account. Unless otherwise stated in the applicable Confirmation, the Delivery Point will be the Storage Withdrawal Point.
- 3.25 "<u>Demand Charge</u>" means the fee which is to be paid on a Monthly basis and which is the product of (a) the applicable Demand Rate for service *times* (b) the number of MMBtus of such Service available to the Customer for the relevant Month.
- 3.26 "<u>Demand Rate</u>" means the Monthly rate per MMBtu for a Service available to Customer in respect of a Transaction as agreed to by Katy and Customer and stated in the applicable Confirmation.
- 3.27 "<u>Designated Pipeline</u>" means the designated pipeline in a Confirmation or Nomination used by the Customer to (a) Deliver Gas to the Katy Storage Facility at the Receipt Point; or (b) Receive Gas from the Katy Storage Facility at the Delivery Point.
- 3.28 "<u>Early Termination Date</u>" means the date determined in accordance with Section 20.4.1 of the Operating Statement.
- 3.29 "Event of Default" means the occurrence at any time with respect to a Party of any of the events detailed in Section 20.2 below.

- 3.30 "Excess Nominations Charge" means the fee which is to be paid on a Monthly basis and which is the product of (a) the applicable Excess Nomination Rate *times*
- 3.31 (b) the number of MMBtus accepted by Katy that exceed the MDIQ or MDWQ, or MDDQ or MDRQ, available to Customer under the relevant Confirmation.
- 3.32 "Excess Nominations Rate" means the fee per MMBtu stated in the applicable Confirmation that will apply to all Nominations accepted by Katy that exceed the MDIQ or MDWQ, or MDDQ or MDRQ, available to Customer under that Confirmation.
- 3.33 "Extended Loaning Charge" means the fee which is to be paid on a Monthly basis but which is to consist of the aggregate sum of the daily charges during such Month, with each such daily charge calculated as the product of (a) the applicable daily rate (b) the number of MMBtus that Customer has failed to re-Deliver to Katy pursuant to a Transaction for Loaning Service Transaction.
- 3.34 "Extended Storage Charge" means the fee which is to be paid on a Monthly basis but which is to consist of the aggregate sum of daily charges during such Month, with each such daily charge calculated as the product of (a) the applicable daily rate *times* (b) the number of MMBtus remaining in the Katy Storage Facility on each such Gas Day after the termination of the applicable Transaction Period (including the Gas Day on which such Gas is finally withdrawn).
- 3.35 "FERC" means the Federal Energy Regulatory Commission or any successor agency.
- 3.36 "Financial Assurances" means either (a) prepayment in cash (U.S. dollars) for Services on terms satisfactory to Katy, with such cash being placed in a segregated, interest-bearing escrow account at a Qualified Institution in the name of Customer and pledged to Katy pursuant to an account control agreement, with interest and expenses on such account accruing to the account of Customer; (b) a standby irrevocable letter of credit issued by a Qualified Institution; (c) a guarantee by Credit Support Provider that satisfies the credit requirements of Katy in a form acceptable to Katy in its reasonable discretion; (d) grant of a first priority security interest in collateral satisfactory to Katy; or (e) another form of assurance satisfactory to Katy in its reasonable discretion.
- 3.37 "<u>Firm Customer</u>" means a Customer who utilizes Services under a Confirmation for Firm Storage Service, No-Notice Service or Firm Wheeling Service.
- 3.38 "Firm" or "Firm Service" refers to "Firm Storage Service", "No-Notice Service" or "Firm Wheeling Service."
- 3.39 <u>"Firm Storage Service"</u> or "<u>FSS</u>" is a Service (of the highest priority) that allows a Customer to inject, withdraw, and/or store Gas at the Katy Storage Facility during a stated period of time, subject to the rights, obligations, and limitations stated in the applicable Transaction Document(s).
- 3.40 "<u>Firm Wheeling Service</u>" is a Service (of the highest priority) whereby Katy uses its interconnection facilities between multiple pipelines to facilitate transfers of Gas by

- Customer from one pipeline to another. It involves the Delivery of a specified Quantity of Gas by Customer to Katy at a Receipt Point, and Katy's subsequent Delivery of a thermally equivalent Quantity of Gas, less fuel, if any, to Customer at a Delivery Point.
- 3.41 "Force Majeure" has the meaning provided in Section 21.0 of this Operating Statement.
- 3.42 "<u>Fuel</u>" means a Quantity of Gas, expressed as a percentage of MMBtus of Gas injected, withdrawn or transported into the Katy Storage Facility that Customer agrees to provide to Katy, in respect of Services to be provided under a Transaction, to be utilized as fuel in connection with those Services.
- 3.43 "Gas" means natural Gas of a quality at least equal to the quality specified in Section 10.0 of this Operating Statement.
- 3.44 "<u>Gas Day</u>" means a period of twenty-four (24) consecutive hours, beginning and ending at 9:00 A.M. CCT including Saturdays, Sundays, and Federal Banking Holidays.
- 3.45 "Heating Value" means the gross heating value on a dry basis, measured in Btu, produced by combustion in air of one (1) cubic foot of anhydrous gas at a temperature of sixty degrees Fahrenheit (60° F) and a constant pressure of fourteen and sixty-five hundredths pounds per square inch absolute (14.65 psia), the air being at the same temperature and pressure as the Gas, after the products of combustion are cooled to the initial temperature of the Gas and air, and after condensation of the water formed by combustion.
- 3.46 "<u>Interruptible</u>" means that the injection, withdrawal, parking, loaning and storage of Customer's Gas, which is subject to interruption at any time by Katy, without any liability whatsoever. Any Service designated as Interruptible shall have the priority specified in Section 7.0 of this Operating Statement.
- 3.47 "<u>Interruptible Customer</u>" means a Customer who utilizes Services under a Confirmation for Interruptible Service(s).
- 3.48 "<u>Interruptible Storage Service</u>" or "<u>ISS</u>" is a Service (subject to interruption at any time) that allows Customer to inject, withdraw, and/or store Gas at the Katy Storage Facility for a stated period of time, subject to the obligations and limitations stated in the applicable Transaction Document(s).
- 3.49 "Interruptible Wheeling Service" is an Interruptible Service whereby Katy uses its interconnection facilities between multiple pipelines to facilitate transfers of Gas by Customer from one pipeline to another. It involves the Delivery of a specified Quantity of Gas by Customer to Katy at a Receipt Point, and Katy's subsequent Delivery of a thermally equivalent Quantity of Gas, less fuel, if any, to Customer at a Delivery Point.
- 3.50 "Inventory Charge" means the fee which is to be paid on a Monthly basis and which is the product of (a) the applicable Inventory Rate for Interruptible Storage Service *times* (b) the number of MMBtus of such Interruptible Storage Service available to the Customer for the relevant Gas Day or Month (as applicable) times (c) the number of Gas Days during which

- such MMBtus remains in the Katy Storage Facility for the relevant Month, if such fee is stated on a "per Gas Day" basis, or one (1), or if such fee is stated on a "per Month" basis.
- 3.51 "<u>Inventory Rate</u>" means the Daily or Monthly rate per MMBtu for Interruptible Storage Service available to Customer in respect of a Transaction as agreed to by Katy and Customer as stated in the applicable Confirmation.
- 3.52 "<u>Katy Group</u>" means Katy, its partners and Affiliates, and the officers, directors, partners, shareholders, stockholders, members, managers, employees, agents, representatives and contractors and subcontractors (of every tier) of each of the foregoing.
- 3.53 "<u>Katy Storage Facility</u>" or "<u>Storage Facility</u>" means the underground Gas storage reservoir known as the Katy Hub and Gas Storage Facility owned by Katy, together with certain associated lands, injection wells, withdrawal wells, and other storage and pipeline facilities, located near Katy, Fort Bend County, Texas having a physical address of 25959 Westheimer Pkwy, Katy, TX 77494.
- 3.54 "<u>Loaned Quantities</u>" means, in respect of each Transaction for Loaning Service, the Quantities of Gas loaned to Customer by Katy under each such Loaning Service Transaction, which Katy shall account for using recognized industry standards, which accounting shall be deemed conclusively correct absent manifest error.
- 3.55 "<u>Loaning Service</u>" is an Interruptible Service that allows Customer to receive a Quantity of Gas from Katy for Customer's short-term use and then return a thermally equivalent Quantity of Gas at a specified time and date.
- 3.56 "Master Service Agreement" means the Master Service Agreement executed by Customer and Katy (together with all attachments thereto) which shall govern all Confirmations and Transactions and which is hereby deemed to incorporate by reference, this Operating Statement.
- 3.57 "<u>Material Adverse Change</u>" means the occurrence of any change in business conditions described in Section 19.5, or the failure of Customer at any time to: satisfy the requirements pertaining to Creditworthiness as set forth in Section 19.3; to maintain an Acceptable Credit Rating; or to maintain or reinstate Financial Assurances.
- 3.58 "<u>Maximum Aggregate Loaning Quantity</u>" or "<u>MALQ</u>" means the maximum aggregate Quantity of Gas that Customer is entitled to Receive from Katy under a Transaction for Loaning Service, as stated in the applicable Confirmation.
- 3.59 "<u>Maximum Aggregate Parking Quantity</u>" or "<u>MAPQ</u>" means the maximum aggregate Quantity of Gas that Customer may maintain in the Katy Storage Facility at any time under a Transaction for Parking Service, as stated in the applicable Confirmation.
- 3.60 "Maximum Aggregate Storage Quantity" or "MASQ" means the maximum aggregate Quantity of Gas that Customer is permitted to have in storage in the Katy Storage Facility at any time under a Transaction for Storage Service as stated in the applicable Confirmation.

- 3.61 <u>"Maximum Aggregate Wheeling Quantity"</u> or "<u>MAWQ</u>" means the maximum aggregate Quantity of Gas which Katy is obligated to wheel at any one time for the account of Customer as specified in the applicable Confirmation.
- 3.62 "Maximum Daily Delivery Quantity" or "MDDQ" means the maximum quantity of Gas which Katy is obligated to deliver to a Customer from the Katy Storage Facility for the account of Customer during one Day under a Firm or Interruptible Wheeling Service Confirmation.
- 3.63 "Maximum Daily Injection Quantity" or "MDIQ" means the maximum Quantity of Gas which Customer may request Katy to inject into storage for the account of Customer under a Storage Service Confirmation, on any given Gas Day as set forth in such Confirmation; unless otherwise provided in a Confirmation, Customer will be obligated to inject all Daily quantities ratably over a 24-hour period.
- 3.64 "<u>Maximum Daily Receipt Quantity</u>" or "<u>MDRQ</u>" means the maximum quantity of Gas which Katy is obligated to receive for the account of a Customer during one Day under a Firm or Interruptible Wheeling Service Confirmation. Total MDRQ shall include fuel.
- 3.65 "Maximum Daily Withdrawal Quantity" or "MDWQ" means the maximum Quantity of Gas which Customer may request Katy to withdraw from storage for the account of the Customer under a Storage Service Confirmation on any given Gas Day as set forth in such Confirmation; unless otherwise provided in a Confirmation, Customer will be obligated to withdraw all Daily quantities ratably over a 24-hour period.
- 3.66 "MMBtu" means one million Btus.
- 3.67 "<u>Mcf</u>" means the quantity of natural Gas occupying a volume of one thousand (1,000) cubic feet at a temperature of sixty degrees Fahrenheit (60° F) and a pressure of fourteen and sixty-five hundredths pounds per square inch absolute (14.65 psia).
- 3.68 "Month" means a period beginning at 9:00 A.M. Central Clock Time on the first Gas Day of a calendar month and ending at 9:00 A.M. Central Clock Time on the first Gas Day of the next succeeding calendar month.
- 3.69 "Monthly Reference Price" means the arithmetic average of the applicable Daily Reference Price or substitute thereof, for each Gas Day of the relevant Month, including weekend deals.
- 3.70 "Moody's" means Moody's Investor Services, Inc. and any successor entity.
- 3.71 "Net Termination Amount" shall have the meaning ascribed to such term in Section 20.6.4 of the Operating Statement.
- 3.72 "<u>Net Termination Balance</u>" shall have the meaning ascribed to such term in Section 20.6.2 of the Operating Statement.
- 3.73 "NGPA" means the Natural Gas Policy Act of 1978.

- 3.74 "NYMEX" means the New York Mercantile Exchange.
- 3.75 "Nomination" shall have the meaning ascribed to such term in Section 6.1 of the Operating Statement.
- 3.76 "No-Notice Service" or "NNSS" is a Firm Service whereby the Customer may deviate from its nominations pursuant to its FSS Master Service Agreement, as set forth in Customer's NNSS Master Service Agreement, provided: (i) Katy has determined that it has sufficient operationally available and uncommitted firm storage capacity and injection and withdrawal capacity to perform the no-notice service Customer has requested; (ii) Customer and Katy have executed a FSS Master Service Agreement and a NNSS Master Service Agreement; (iii) Customer accepts responsibility for arranging any transportation service required (any such arrangements for utilization of no-notice service must be acceptable to Katy, in its reasonable judgment); and (iv) Customers' rights shall at all times be subject to its FSS Master Service Agreement, including with respect to its MDDQ, MDRQ, MDIQ, and MDWQ; and (v) availability of no-notice service shall be subject to a determination by Katy that its performance of the service requested shall not cause a reduction in Katy's ability to provide Firm Storage Services under currently effective Master Service Agreements.
- 3.77 "Non-Spec Gas" shall have the meaning ascribed to such term in Section 10.2 of the Operating Statement.
- 3.78 "Normal Operating Pressure" means the rolling one hundred eighty (180) Gas Day average operating pressure at the point of interconnection with the Katy Storage Facility.
- 3.79 "Overrun Charge" means the fee which is to be paid on a Monthly basis and which is the product of (a) the applicable Overrun Rate *times* (b) the peak quantity of Customer Inventory at any time during a Month in excess of Customer's Capacity Demand.
- 3.80 "Overrun Rate" means the Monthly charge per MMBtu payable by Customer for Customer Inventory in excess of Customer's Capacity Demand, as determined by Katy in its reasonable discretion.
- 3.81 "Park Balance" means the quantity of Gas that Customer has at the Katy Storage Facility for Customer's account under a Master Service Agreement for Parking Service, provided that the Park Balance shall never exceed Customer's Maximum Aggregate Parking Quantity specified in Customer's Master Service Agreement.
- 3.82 "<u>Parking Service</u>" is an Interruptible Service providing for the short-term custody of a Customer's Gas. It involves the Delivery of a specified Quantity of Gas by Customer to Katy at the Receipt Point, and the subsequent Delivery of a thermally equivalent Quantity of Gas by Katy to Customer at the Delivery Point, in accordance with the terms of the applicable Confirmation.
- 3.83 "Party" means either Katy or Customer; "Parties" means Katy and Customer, collectively.

- 3.84 "Person" means any natural person or any corporation, partnership, limited liability company or other entity of any type, public or private.
- 3.85 "Prompt Month" means the nearest month of Delivery for which NYMEX futures prices are published during the current trading month.
- 3.86 "Qualified Institution" means the domestic office of a commercial bank or trust company that is not an Affiliate of Customer and that has assets of at least \$10 billion and credit ratings of at least A- by S&P and at least A3 by Moody's.
- 3.87 "Quantity of Gas" means the quantity of Gas expressed in MMBtus, unless otherwise specified.
- 3.88 "Ratable Daily Loan Quantity" or "RDLQ" means the ratable Quantity of Gas that Customer is required to Receive from Katy on any given Gas Day under a Transaction for Loaning Service, as set forth in the applicable Confirmation; Customer will be obligated to Receive such RDLQ ratably over a 24-hour period.
- 3.89 "Ratable Daily Loan Payback Quantity" or "RDLPQ" means the ratable Quantity of Gas that Customer is required to re-Deliver to Katy on any given Gas Day under a Transaction for Loaning Service, as set forth in the applicable Confirmation; Customer will be obligated to re-Deliver such RDLPQ ratably over a 24-hour period.
- 3.90 "Ratable Daily Parking Quantity" or "RDPQ" means the ratable Quantity of Gas that Customer is required to inject into storage on any given Gas Day under a Transaction for a Parking Service, as set forth in the applicable Confirmation; Customer will be obligated to inject such RDPQ ratably over a 24-hour period.
- 3.91 "Ratable Daily Unparking Quantity" or "RDUQ" means the ratable Quantity of Gas that Customer is required to withdraw from storage on any given Gas Day under a Transaction for Parking Service, as set forth in the applicable Confirmation; Customer will be obligated to withdraw such RDUQ ratably over a 24-hour period.
- 3.92 "<u>Receipt</u>" or "<u>Receive</u>" means the physical Receipt, or its equivalent, of Gas by Katy at a Receipt Point from or for the account of the Customer.
- 3.93 "Receipt Default" means a Party's unexcused failure during any Gas Day or Month of the Transaction Period to discharge its obligations, as specified in a Confirmation, to receive Gas made available by the other Party at the Receipt Point or the Delivery Point, as applicable.
- 3.94 "Receipt Point" means the point at which Katy receives Gas for Customer's account.
- 3.95 "Reference Price" means as applicable, the Daily or Monthly Gas price reported in Platts Gas Daily or any successor publication. The "Daily Reference Price" for the Katy Storage Facility will be the midpoint for "East-Houston-Katy Katy Reference Price." If at any time the Reference Price is not published in the manner previously described, the Substitute Reference Price shall then become the "Reference Price."

- 3.96 "<u>REGARDLESS OF CAUSE</u>" means without regard to the negligence of any person or party, including the indemnified party or parties, whether such negligence be sole, joint, concurrent, active, or passive, and additionally, without regard to pre- existing conditions, whether such conditions to be patent or latent, imperfection of material, defect or failure of equipment, ultrahazardous activity, strict liability or any other tort.
- 3.97 "RRC" means the Texas Railroad Commission or any successor agency.
- 3.98 "Section 311 Warranty" means, if any Gas subject to any Confirmation hereunder is in interstate commerce, Customer's warranty that (a) such Gas is eligible for transportation and storage at the Katy Storage Facility pursuant to Section 311 of the NGPA (and will continue to be eligible for the entire period covered by the relevant Confirmation) and (b) Customer is in compliance with all rules and regulations applicable to such eligible transportation and Storage Services, including, without limitation, compliance with the "on behalf of" standard, as that standard or any such rules and/or regulations may be amended from time to time.
- 3.99 "<u>Service(s)</u>" means the injection, storage, withdrawal, parking, loaning, or wheeling of Gas, and any ancillary services to be performed by Katy for Customer pursuant to a Master Service Agreement and relevant Confirmation.
- 3.100 "<u>S&P</u>" means Standard & Poor Rating Group (a division of McGraw-Hill, Inc.) and any successor entity.
- 3.101 "Storage Injection Point" and "Storage Withdrawal Point" means the point of interconnection of the Katy Storage Facility and the Designated Pipeline.
- 3.102 "<u>Storage Service</u>" means either Firm Storage Service or Interruptible Storage Service or No-Notice Storage Service, as the case may be.
- 3.103 "<u>Storage Inventory</u>" means the quantity of Working Gas that a Customer has in place at the Katy Storage Facility for Customer's account, provided that the Storage Inventory shall never exceed Customer's Maximum Aggregate Storage Quantity.
- 3.104 "Substitute Reference Price" means the substitute "Reference Price" as determined by the following procedures: If at any time the Reference Price is no longer published in the manner described in the definition for Reference Price, Katy shall provide notice ("Substitute Reference Price Notice") thereof to Customer in which event the Parties shall attempt to agree on a Substitute Reference Price. If the Parties are unable to reach an agreement on a Substitute Reference Price within fifteen (15) Business Days following delivery of the Substitute Reference Price Notice, either Party will be entitled to require that the determination thereof be submitted for resolution to an independent consultant having the requisite experience, selected by Katy in its reasonable discretion. The independent consultant will be instructed to select a price reference or index that, in the reasonable and fair opinion of the independent consultant, most accurately reflects, the applicable Daily or Monthly spot-market price for Gas Delivered on the Designated Pipeline by way of an inventory transfer. The independent consultant's determination shall be final and binding on the Parties.

- 3.105 "<u>Termination Amount</u>" shall have the meaning ascribed to such term in Section 20.6.4 of the Operating Statement.
- 3.106 "<u>Termination Amount Notice</u>" shall have the meaning ascribed to such term in Section 20.6.4 of the Operating Statement.
- 3.107 "<u>Title Transfer</u>" means title changes from party to party that do not affect a physical transfer of the Gas.
- 3.108 "Transaction" has the meaning as set forth in Section 5.2.
- 3.109 "<u>Transaction Document(s)</u>" means the Operating Statement, the Master Service Agreement, and all Confirmations and Nominations entered into pursuant to the Master Service Agreement.
- 3.110 "<u>Transaction Period</u>" means the period of time during which a Transaction will be performed, as stated in the applicable Confirmation.
- 3.111 "Week" means a period of seven (7) consecutive Gas Days beginning at 9:00a.m. Central Clock Time, on each Monday and ending at the same time on the next succeeding Monday.
- 3.112 "Wheeling Charge" means the fee which is to be paid on a Monthly basis and which is the product of (a) the applicable Wheeling Rate *times* (b) the number of MMBtus of Gas for which the Wheeling Service was rendered.
- 3.113 "Wheeling Quantity" means the amount of Gas stated in the applicable Confirmation that Customer and Katy each agree to Delivery to and to Receive from the other on each Gas Day during the Transaction Period. The Wheeling Quantity Delivered to the Delivery Point by Katy must contain equal Heating Value, measured in MMBtus, less Fuel, to the Quantity of Gas received from Customer at the Receipt Point. Katy will be responsible for making the measurement conversions from Heating Value to volume or volume to Heating Value in all Wheeling Service arrangements, in accordance with conversion procedures set forth in the applicable pipeline tariffs.
- 3.114 "Wheeling Rate" means the rate per MMBtu for a Wheeling Service as agreed to by Katy and Customer and stated in the applicable Confirmation.
- 3.115 "Wheeling Service" means Firm Wheeling Service or Interruptible Wheeling Service.

4.0 SERVICES

4.1 <u>Eligibility</u>. From time to time, subject to (i) Customer's prior execution of a Master Service Agreement and having met the eligibility requirements stated herein and therein and (ii) the availability of storage capacity, injection capacity, and deliverability, Katy will offer storage and other related Services (which includes interstate natural Gas storage and related transportation services) to Customer on a non-discriminatory basis.

- 4.2 <u>Services</u>. The following Services shall be offered under this Operating Statement, conditioned upon the execution of a Master Service Agreement and the Confirmation or deemed Confirmation, by Customer of the Transaction-specific terms contained in the applicable Transaction in accordance with Section 5.0 below:
 - 4.2.1 Firm Storage Service;
 - 4.2.2 Interruptible Storage Service;
 - 4.2.3 No-Notice Storage Service
 - 4.2.4 Firm Wheeling Service
 - 4.2.5 Interruptible Wheeling Service;
 - 4.2.6 Parking Service; and
 - 4.2.7 Loaning Service.
- 4.3 <u>Additional Service</u>. Subject to refund, Katy shall be entitled to offer any additional Service not listed above, but created subsequent to the filing of this Operating Statement with FERC, so long as such Services are offered to all Customers on a non-discriminatory basis and any applicable filings are made with FERC.
- 4.4 Title Transfer.
 - 4.4.1 A Customer that has executed a Master Service Agreement for Firm Storage Service, Interruptible Storage Service, Parking Service or Wheeling Service may sell its Storage Inventory or Park Balance or Wheeling Quantity, as applicable, to any other Customer that has executed a Master Service Agreement for Firm Storage Service, Interruptible Storage Service, Parking Service or Wheeling Service if:
 - (a) Customer selling Storage Inventory, Park Balance or Wheeling Quantity, as applicable, provides notification to Katy prior to the nomination deadline and provides prior written approval from Katy with written verification (via e-mail or instant messaging) of the transfer within five (5) Business Days; and
 - (b) The purchase does not cause either Customer to exceed its Maximum Aggregate Storage Quantity or Maximum Aggregate Parking or Wheeling Quantity, as applicable, and as specified in Customer's Master Service Agreement or cause either Customer's balance to go below zero.
 - 4.4.2 Katy will recognize the transfer for purposes of computing available Storage Inventory, Park Balance or Wheeling Quantity, as applicable, on a prospective basis within two (2) Business Days after receiving the notification. In the event the required written verification (via e-mail or instant messaging) is not received, the transfer will no longer be recognized and the Storage Inventory, Park Balance or

- Wheeling Quantity for each Customer will be restated to reflect the reversal of the transfer.
- 4.4.3 For each title transfer of Gas performed by Customer under this Section 4.4, the transferring Customer shall pay the market-based fee for title transfer set forth by Katy. This Section does not prohibit or limit the number of title transfer services provided by third party providers.
- 4.4.4 Katy may restrict transfers when such transfers would result in an increase in the service obligations of Katy or cause operational difficulties and such increase or operational difficulties would, in the reasonable judgment of Katy, impair the ability of Katy to meet all of its other service obligations of equal or higher priority. Transfers may only occur between Customers under a Master Service Agreement pertaining to the same service and priority.
- 4.5 Regulations. Any and all interstate Services offered under this Operating Statement and rendered pursuant to a Master Service Agreement must be eligible under, and shall be fully subject to all applicable requirements of Section 284.123 of the regulations of the FERC as such regulations may be revised from time to time. Customer's request for Service shall constitute its warranty that it satisfies such requirements. If Customer seeks to enter into a Confirmation for storage and/or related Services for Gas that is in interstate commerce, Customer hereby gives Katy Customer's Section 311 Warranty and Customer is hereby deemed to re-confirm such Section 311 Warranty each time Customer submits a Nomination involving Gas that is in interstate commerce. Customer shall re-confirm such Section 311 Warranty on any Confirmation or Nomination as requested by Katy. Katy shall have the right to request information from Customer to verify its eligibility for Service under the applicable regulations.

5.0 CONFIRMATIONS

- 5.1 <u>Confirmation</u>. A Customer desiring any Service under a Master Service Agreement shall make an oral or written request to Katy that includes, but is not limited to, information such as the exact legal name of the Customer requesting Service, the type of Service requested, the proposed initial maximum Daily quantities, and the proposed term of Service. Katy shall duly consider all Service requests and will contact Customer regarding whether Katy can provide such Service. If Katy can provide some, but not all, of the requested Service, Katy will advise the requesting party of the maximum quantities that Katy will be able to accommodate.
- 5.2 Execution of the Confirmation. The Parties' agreement regarding the provision of a Service under a Master Service Agreement (a "Transaction") shall be made in accordance with the provisions of this Section 5.2. The Transaction-specific terms may be agreed upon either verbally or electronically, with the communication of an offer and the communication of an acceptance of such terms constituting a valid, binding and enforceable agreement between the Parties, subject to the terms of the Operating Statement then in effect and the Master Service Agreement. Notwithstanding that the Parties shall be legally bound from the time they agree to the terms of a Transaction, Katy promptly shall memorialize the

terms of each Transaction in writing in Katy's standard confirmation form or via electronic Nomination platform (a "Confirmation"). (For purposes of the immediately foregoing sentence, the term "promptly" shall mean, with regard to an agreement reached on a Transaction on a particular Gas Day, (i) if such agreement is reached before the close of NYMEX trading for that Gas Day, the Confirmation for that Transaction will be sent to Customer by 5:00 p.m. CCT on that Gas Day or (ii) if such agreement is reached after the close of the NYMEX trading for that Gas Day, the Confirmation for that Transaction will be sent to Customer by 5:00 p.m. CCT of the next following Gas Day). The Parties may electronically record conversations via telephone, email or instant messaging between their respective employees relating to any Transaction, without further notice to the other Party, to be used solely for reference when memorializing the terms of a Transaction in a Confirmation; provided, however, that any such recording shall be subject to verification of authenticity. Each Confirmation shall be signed by Katy and faxed or transmitted electronically to Customer for execution and delivery to Katy. The required terms for each Transaction shall include the Service fees, fee structure, the Transaction Period, and the following:

- 5.2.1 <u>Firm Storage Service</u>: Capacity Demand, Maximum Daily Injection Quantity, and Maximum Daily Withdrawal Quantity, and the specific Delivery Point(s) and Receipt Point(s);
- 5.2.2 <u>Interruptible Storage Service</u>: the injection, withdrawal, and storage quantities;
- 5.2.3 <u>Firm Wheeling Service</u>: Wheeling Quantity and the specific Delivery Point(s) and Receipt Point(s) where Customer will Deliver and receive the Wheeling Quantities. The terms of this Service are subject to confirmation via electronic Nomination platform;
- 5.2.4 <u>Interruptible Wheeling Service</u>: Wheeling Quantity and the specific Delivery Point(s) and Receipt Point(s) where Customer will Deliver and receive the Wheeling Quantities. The terms of this Service are subject to confirmation via electronic Nomination platform;
- 5.2.5 <u>Parking Service</u>: Maximum Aggregate Parking Quantity, Ratable Daily Parking Quantity, and Ratable Daily Unparking Quantity; and
- 5.2.6 <u>Loaning Service</u>: Maximum Aggregate Loaning Quantity, Ratable Daily Loan Quantity, and Ratable Daily Loan Payback Quantity.
- 5.2.7 <u>No-Notice Service</u>: No-notice quantity and the specific Delivery Point(s) and Receipt Point(s) where Customer wishes to alter its injections and/or withdrawals.
- 5.3 Confirmation Process. Upon receipt of a specific Confirmation, Customer shall either:
 - 5.3.1 Execute and fax or transmit electronically back to Katy such signed Confirmation confirming the terms of the Transaction; or

- 5.3.2 Notify Katy in writing of any changes required to reflect Customer's understanding of the terms agreed to by Katy and Customer, within the earlier to occur of (a) three (3) Business Gas Days from delivery of the Confirmation by Katy; and (b) the period of time specified in such Confirmation.
- 5.4 <u>Changes to Confirmation</u>. If Customer fails to notify Katy of any changes in accordance with Section 5.3.2 above, Customer shall be deemed for all purposes to have confirmed the terms set forth in such Confirmation as accurately reflecting the terms of the Transaction as agreed to by Katy and Customer, regardless of whether Customer executes and returns such Confirmation to Katy.
- 5.5 <u>Error</u>. If Customer notifies Katy of an alleged error in a Confirmation in accordance with Section 5.3.2, the Parties shall attempt to reach agreement on revisions to the applicable Confirmation required to properly reflect the Transaction-specific terms agreed to by the Parties. The process of verifying the Transaction terms as memorialized in a Confirmation as set forth in this Section 5.0 is for the sole purpose of correcting any errors in transcribing the verbal or electronic agreement made by the Parties and is not intended to be a means for re- negotiating any terms of such agreement. Once such agreement is reached, Katy shall fax or transmit electronically to Customer the applicable revised Confirmation reflecting those revisions. Section 5.3 shall apply to Customer's receipt of any such revised Confirmation.
- 5.6 Binding Confirmation. Upon confirmation, or deemed confirmation, of the Transactionspecific terms in the Confirmation by the Customer, the Confirmation shall become, for all purposes, the final and complete evidence with respect to the Transaction to which it applies. In the event (i) Katy fails, for any reason, to deliver to Customer a form of Confirmation in respect of a Transaction as required by this Section 5.0, or (ii) Customer notifies Katy in accordance with Section 5.3 and the Parties thereafter fail to resolve any dispute with respect to the terms specified in a Confirmation forwarded by Katy, the Transaction as originally agreed to by the Parties (as evidenced by a record of the initial communication of an offer and an acceptance, whether verbal, electronic or otherwise) shall nevertheless be binding. All references to a "Confirmation" in this Operating Statement or in any other Transaction Document are intended (unless a provision contemplates a written document) to refer to both a "Transaction" that has been memorialized in a written Confirmation, as well as any "Transaction" for which a written Confirmation was not done or agreed upon, but which is nonetheless binding between the Parties pursuant to the terms of this Operating Statement.
- 5.7 <u>Terms of Service</u>. The terms of a Transaction shall remain in effect until duly changed by the agreement of the Parties or until interrupted by Katy for operational reasons, to serve Customers with a superior Service priority or as otherwise allowed in accordance with the terms of the Master Service Agreement or the applicable Transaction.
- 5.8 <u>Creditworthiness</u>. Nothing in this Operating Statement or the Master Service Agreement shall be deemed to obligate Katy to render any Service until both Customer and Katy have entered into a Transaction for that Service. Katy shall not be required to provide any Service if: (i) Katy determines, based on its credit analysis, that the requesting party does

not satisfy Katy's credit requirements as described in Section 19.0 below; (ii) the Service requested would require the construction, modification, expansion or acquisition of any facility; (iii) the Service requested would not comply with the Operating Statement then in effect or the Master Service Agreement; (iv) Katy lacks adequate capacity or deliverability to provide the requested Service; or (v) the Parties are unable to agree upon mutually acceptable terms for the Service.

6.0 NOMINATIONS

- 6.1 <u>Nomination Requirements.</u> For any Gas Day that Customer desires Deliveries or Receipts of Gas or other Services at the Katy Storage Facility, Customer must submit a request for such Delivery or Receipt or other Service (a "<u>Nomination</u>") in accordance with the requirements of this Section 6.0. Nominations will be accepted only for Transactions that are currently in effect and only in accordance with the provisions of this Section 6.0. Subject to Sections 8.0, 20.0, 21.0, and 22.0 below, Katy shall schedule such Services as are nominated and tendered to Katy in accordance with the terms set forth herein and in the applicable Confirmation.
 - 6.1.1 Customer shall make all Nominations electronically at www.gasstorage.net/katy (the "Katy Website"). Katy shall take such commercially reasonable steps as it deems necessary to ensure the security and adequate functioning of such website, but shall have no liability for the inaccuracy or incompleteness of any communication related thereto.
- 6.2 Nominations. Katy will accept Nominations for Service as follows:
 - 6.2.1 Monthly Nominations: No later than 1:00 p.m., Central Clock Time, on the second Business Day prior to the first Gas Day of each Month or, if the initial Delivery of Gas under a Confirmation is not to occur at the beginning of the Month, on the Business Day prior to the date of the initial Deliveries, Customer shall provide Katy with a Nomination showing (i) Customer's Daily volumes to be Delivered to Katy at each Receipt Point during the succeeding Month or (ii) an allocation of volumes to be Delivered by Katy at each Delivery Point, as applicable.
 - 6.2.2 Daily Nominations: If Customer wishes to make a change to a Nomination for a particular Gas Day, Customer shall advise Katy of such change, including, but not limited to, the Quantity of Gas scheduled to be tendered at each of the Receipt Point and Delivery Point via the Katy Website as soon as possible, but in no event later than 1:00 p.m., Central Clock Time, on the first Business Day immediately preceding the Gas Day on which such change is to take place.
 - 6.2.3 No-Notice Service Nominations: If Customer desires No-Notice Service under a NNSS Master Service Agreement, Customer may submit a nomination to Katy to schedule such No-Notice Service at any time prior to the date and time at which Customer desires such No-Notice Service to commence. Katy will schedule such service only if the applicable interconnected parties agree on the hourly flows of the nomination and the nomination otherwise satisfies the limitations under the

NNSS Master Service Agreement. To the extent that the nomination involves scheduling service for the following day, Katy will schedule such service only if Katy is able to confirm the receipt and delivery of such Gas at the applicable Point(s) of Receipt and Point(s) of Delivery. All nominations shall be based on a daily quantity.

- Nominations: Additional Nomination cycles shall be available for Customer upon direct request to Katy, for an additional charge as agreed upon by Katy and Customer in the applicable Confirmation. If Katy, in its reasonable discretion, accepts a Nomination from Customer for Delivery of Gas during a period of less than twenty-four (24) hours, in no event shall Customer be entitled to a Delivery greater than one twenty-fourth (1/24th) of the Customer's MDIQ or MDWQ, or MDRQ or MDDQ for the contract multiplied by the number of hours between the effective time of the Delivery and the end of the Gas Day. Provided however, that a Customer under a NNSS Master Service Agreement has the option, pursuant to the rights and limitations described in Section 6.2.3, for Customer to increase or decrease its injections or withdrawals of Gas at primary points specified in Customer's No-Notice Storage Service Agreement from existing scheduled quantities, including a nomination of zero, up to Customer's MDIQ or MDWQ, as applicable, without complying with the deadlines for revised nominations under this Section 6.0. Further, the no-notice option is also limited by the MDRO and MDDQ at such points.
- 6.3 <u>Timely Nomination</u>. If Customer fails to provide a timely Nomination, Customer's Nomination shall be rejected unless Katy, in its reasonable discretion, agrees to accept the late Nomination.
- 6.4 <u>Scheduling of Nomination</u>. To confirm and schedule Customer's Nomination, Katy will consider the available capacity of the Katy Storage Facility, other Firm and Interruptible Nominations, and the aggregate of Storage Inventory at the relevant time.
- 6.5 <u>Rejection of Nomination</u>. Katy shall always have the right to reject a Nomination, and shall have no liability to Customer or any other Person in connection with such rejection of Service, if under such Nomination:
 - 6.5.1 the aggregate charges payable by Customer for the requested Services, together with the total aggregate charges payable by Customer under all other Confirmations and all other amounts owed by Customer to Katy, would exceed the credit limit established for Customer pursuant to Section 19.0;
 - 6.5.2 the Quantity of Gas to be injected under an injection Nomination would cause Customer Inventory to exceed Customer's Capacity Demand;
 - 6.5.3 the Quantity of Gas to be withdrawn under a withdrawal Nomination is greater than the Customer Inventory at the time of the Nomination;

- 6.5.4 the Quantity of Gas to be Delivered by Katy under a Loaning Service Confirmation would exceed Customer's Maximum Aggregate Loaning Quantity or Ratable Daily Loan Quantity;
- 6.5.5 the Quantity of Gas to be received by Katy under a Loaning Service Confirmation would exceed Customer's Ratable Daily Loan Payback Quantity;
- 6.5.6 the Quantity of Gas to be received under a Parking Service Confirmation would be in excess of Customer's Maximum Aggregate Parking Quantity or Customer's Ratable Daily Parking Quantity in respect of such Transaction;
- 6.5.7 the Quantity of Gas to be Delivered by Katy under a Parking Service Confirmation would be in excess of Customer Inventory or Customer's Ratable Daily Unparking Quantity in respect of such Transaction;
- 6.5.8 the Quantity of Gas under any withdrawal or injection Nomination would exceed the Customer's ratable Maximum Daily Withdrawal Quantity or ratable Maximum Daily Injection Quantity, respectively;
- 6.5.9 the Quantity of Gas to be received under a Firm Wheeling Confirmation would exceed the Customer's Maximum Aggregate Wheeling Quantity;
- 6.5.10 the Quantity of Gas to be Delivered under a Firm Wheeling Confirmation would exceed the Customer's Maximum Aggregate Wheeling Quantity.
- 6.6 Acceptance of Nomination. Katy may, in its reasonable discretion but not on an unduly discriminatory basis, accept any such Nomination that may otherwise be rejected under Sections 6.2.1 6.2.3 above. If Katy accepts any such Nomination, any Service under such Nomination shall be Interruptible and subject to any applicable Overrun Charge and/or other applicable fees. Nothing in this Section shall be construed as obligating Katy to accept any excess Nomination even if Katy's refusal to do so results in Customer's breach of its obligation to reduce Customer Inventory to zero by the end of the Transaction Period as set forth in the applicable Confirmation.
- 6.7 <u>Nomination Procedures</u>. Katy may change the foregoing Nomination procedures from time to time on one (1) calendar Month's prior written notice to Customer or as may be necessary to meet the Designated Pipeline's requirements or Katy's operational needs.

7.0 PRIORITY OF SERVICE

- 7.1 <u>Scheduling of Priority of Service</u>. Storage capacity, injection, and deliverability will be available in the following order of declining priority:
 - (a) Firm Storage Service, Firm Wheeling Service, and No-Notice Service (equally);
 - (b) Authorized Overrun injections or withdrawals requested pursuant to Firm Storage Service rights;

- (c) Parking Service and Loaning Service (equally);
- (d) Interruptible Storage Service;
- (e) Authorized Overrun injections or withdrawals requested pursuant to Interruptible Storage Service rights;
- (f) Interruptible Wheeling Service; and
- (g) Make-up volumes to correct prior variances between (i) Designated Pipeline and Katy, (ii) Customer and Katy, and (iii) Customer and Designated Pipeline if the variance was due to Katy's failure to receive or Deliver Customer's scheduled volumes.

8.0 INTERRUPTION OF SERVICE

- 8.1 <u>Firm Service and Interruptible Services</u>. Interruptible Services are subject to interruption by Katy at any time and for any reason. Firm Service is subject to interruptions resulting from Force Majeure, maintenance, operational flow orders, curtailments (whether claimed by Katy, the Designated Pipeline or any other transporting pipeline) and/or as otherwise set forth in this Section 8.0. In the event Service is interrupted, Katy will notify Customer and Customer shall nominate for withdrawal of its stored or parked Gas, injection of Gas loaned to it and/or wheeling in accordance with the requirements set forth herein.
- 8.2 <u>Interruptible Wheeling Service</u>. Interruptible Wheeling Services are subject to interruption by either Party at any time and for any reason, provided that (i) Customer must provide notice to Katy by telephone at least twelve (12) hours before the time that the Receipt and/or Delivery of Gas will be interrupted and (ii) Katy shall provide notice to Customer of interruptions in a timely and reasonably prudent manner.
- 8.3 Normal Operating Pressure and Interruption of Service. The Katy Storage Facility is designed to store, inject and withdraw Gas based on the Normal Operating Pressure maintained by the Designated Pipeline at the Receipt Point(s) and Delivery Point(s), as applicable, with allowances for reasonable fluctuations. Katy shall not be obligated to receive or Deliver more Gas than the Katy Storage Facility is capable of receiving or Delivering under prevailing pressures and Customer's Receipt and Delivery rights may be curtailed by reason of abnormally high or low pressure in the Designated Pipeline system. In the event that conditions on the Designated Pipeline's system vary substantially from the Normal Operating Pressure, Katy may interrupt Service to the extent necessary and capacity will be allocated consistent with the allocation provisions of this Operating Statement.
- 8.4 <u>Curtailments</u>. Katy shall have the right to curtail Receipts and Deliveries of Gas as reasonably required from time to time to perform routine or emergency, scheduled or unscheduled maintenance, repairs, additions, or modifications to the Katy Storage Facility, or the testing of the same in accordance with the applicable regulations in order to monitor pressure in the Katy Storage Facility under static conditions. If a capacity constraint is anticipated or planned (for example, due to system maintenance) Katy shall post a notice

- of the anticipated constraint on its Katy Web Site at least two (2) Business Days in advance of the start of the constraint period.
- 8.5 <u>Interruption of Services</u>. In the event Katy is unable to receive or Deliver any Quantity of Gas for any reason and determines, in its reasonable discretion, that it is unable to meet all scheduled obligations to all Customers, Katy may interrupt Services to Customers in the reverse order of priority set forth in Section 7.0.
 - 8.5.1 Interruption of Interruptible Services shall be based on the Service charges paid by each Interruptible Customer, with the lowest rate Service being interrupted first.
 - 8.5.2 In the event that two or more Interruptible Customers tie for priority as determined in the manner set forth in the preceding sentence, Service to such Customers shall be interrupted on a *pro rata* basis based on the total nominated quantity.
 - 8.5.3 If Firm Storage Service must be interrupted interruption of such Service shall be *pro rata* basis based on MDIQ, and/or MDWQ, as applicable. Katy shall provide to Firm Storage Service Customers as much advance notice of any interruption as is practicable under these circumstances.
 - 8.5.4 If Firm Wheeling Service must be interrupted interruption of such Service shall be *pro rata* basis based on MDDQ, and/or MDRQ, as applicable. Katy shall provide to Firm Wheeling Service Customers as much advance notice of any interruption as is practicable under these circumstances.
- 8.6 Required Withdrawals. To the extent Interruptible Customer(s) utilize storage capacity that is needed by Katy to satisfy Katy's obligations to Firm Customer(s), Katy may request that such Interruptible Customer(s) withdraw all, or any portion of, the Gas quantities being held in storage under such Interruptible Service(s), according to the priorities set forth in Section 7.0 and Section 8.5. Upon such request, Interruptible Customer(s) so requested shall nominate for withdrawal the maximum amount possible every Gas Day until the requested capacity is made available. If any Interruptible Customer fails to withdraw its stored Gas as requested, Katy may take title to the Customer Inventory under each of Customer's Interruptible Transactions (to the extent of all or any portion thereof, as applicable with regard to the amount that was requested to be withdrawn) free and clear of any adverse claim; provided, however, that if a Customer was unable to withdraw all or any portion of such Customer Inventory because of an interruption of Customer's withdrawal Service, Customer shall be allowed to withdraw such Customer Inventory within a reasonable time period following the expiry of such interruption.
- 8.7 KATY SHALL NOT BE LIABLE FOR ANY LOSS OR DAMAGE TO ANY PERSON OR PROPERTY CAUSED, IN WHOLE OR IN PART, BY ANY INTERRUPTION OF SERVICE, EXCEPT TO THE EXTENT CAUSED BY KATY'S GROSS NEGLIGENCE OR WILLFUL MISCONDUCT. CUSTOMER AGREES TO INDEMNIFY KATY GROUP FROM AND AGAINST ANY AND ALL CLAIMS AND/OR ENCUMBRANCES WHATSOEVER RESULTING FROM, ARISING OUT OF OR IN ANY WAY RELATED TO AN INTERRUPTION OF

CUSTOMER'S SERVICE, REGARDLESS OF CAUSE (BUT NOT TO THE EXTENT CAUSED BY KATY'S GROSS NEGLIGENCE OR WILLFUL MISCONDUCT).

9.0 TENDER OF RECEIPTS AND DELIVERIES

- 9.1 <u>Delivery</u>. Customer shall Deliver or cause to be Delivered to Katy at the Receipt Point Gas that Customer has nominated to have injected into the Katy Storage Facility, plus applicable Fuel, if any. Customer shall also receive or cause to be received at the Delivery Point, upon tender by Katy, Gas that Customer has nominated to be withdrawn from the Storage Facility.
- 9.2 <u>Transportation</u>. Customer shall be responsible for nominating transportation on the Designated Pipeline under Customer's transportation contract with the Designated Pipeline and for paying all transportation charges related thereto.
- 9.3 Receipt and Delivery Defaults. In the event of either Party's unexcused failure (and for purposes of this Operating Statement, an "unexcused failure" shall not include any failure caused by a Force Majeure or any other interruption of Service permitted under this Operating Statement) to Deliver or receive a Quantity of Gas (for purposes of this Section, the "Default Quantity") to or from the other Party (or to or from a third party for the account of the other Party) in accordance with the proper Nomination under a particular Transaction (for purposes of this Section, the "Defaulted Transaction"), such defaulting Party shall use its best efforts to notify the non-defaulting Party before the scheduled Delivery or Receipt date, as applicable, for such Default Quantity. In any event, the non-defaulting Party shall provide written notice of the Receipt Default or Delivery Default, as the case may be, to the defaulting Party within three (3) Gas Days after the date of such Delivery Default or Receipt Default (for purposes of this Section, a "Default Notice"), and indicate in such Default Notice whether the non-defaulting Party desires to pursue a remedy. Upon request of the defaulting Party, the non- defaulting Party shall provide written documentation of such Receipt Default or Delivery Default in the form of allocation statements from the applicable Transporter(s). Subject to Sections 20.0, 25.0, and 26.0 of this Operating Statement, but notwithstanding any other provision in any Transaction Document to the contrary, the remedies of a non-defaulting Party for a Delivery Default or Receipt Default will be expressly limited as set forth below:
 - 9.3.1 Unless the terms of Sections 9.3.3 or 9.3.4 are applicable, the Parties shall act in accordance with Section 9.3.2, which may include, among other things, the use of commercially reasonable efforts to enter into a corresponding Transaction (for purposes of this Section, the "Corresponding Transaction"). A Corresponding Transaction which may include, among other things, to the extent possible given the nature of the relevant Defaulted Transaction: (a) entering into an offsetting Transaction, e.g., if the Defaulted Transaction is a Loaning Service Transaction, entering into a Parking Service Transaction, or if the Defaulted Transaction is a Parking Service Transaction entering into a Loaning Service Transaction, or (b) entering into such other Transaction as to which the Parties may agree, to attempt to mitigate damages to the extent possible while preserving the economic

substance of the initial agreement between the Parties as evidenced by the original terms of the Defaulted Transaction. Upon request, the Party claiming a Receipt Default or Delivery Default by the other Party shall provide written documentation of such Receipt Default or Delivery Default in the form of allocation statements from the applicable Designated Pipeline(s).

- 9.3.2 <u>Firm Storage</u>; Firm Wheeling; No-Notice; Parking; Loaning. Except as provided in Sections 9.3.3 and 9.3.4 below, in the event of a Defaulted Transaction, the Parties shall enter into a Corresponding Transaction. If the Parties cannot agree to the terms of a Corresponding Transaction (after attempting in good faith to do so), the non-defaulting Party may collect damages from the defaulting Party equal to the greater of:
 - (a) the absolute value of the product of (x) the Default Quantity *times* (y) the spread between the Daily Reference Price and the NYMEX Prompt Month settlement price for the Gas Day on which the relevant Nomination was made, as adjusted for the applicable basis differential plus applicable transportation; and
 - (b) the absolute value of the product of (x) the Default Quantity *times* (y) the spread between the Daily Reference Price and the NYMEX Prompt Month settlement price for the Gas Day on which the physical Gas of which was actually supposed to flow pursuant to such Nomination.
 - (c) In addition to the foregoing and notwithstanding anything else in any Transaction Document to the contrary, Customer shall at all times remain obligated for the Demand Charge associated with Customer's Firm Storage Service Transaction(s).
- 9.3.3 <u>Interruptible Storage Service Transactions</u>. If the Defaulted Transaction is an Interruptible Storage Service Transaction, the Parties shall use commercially reasonable efforts to re-nominate and Deliver or receive the nominated Gas, as the case may be, at each Party's earliest possible convenience.
- 9.3.4 <u>Interruptible Wheeling Service Transactions</u>. If the Defaulted Transaction is an <u>Interruptible Wheeling Service Transaction</u>, the terms of this Section 9.3.4 shall apply. Customer's Nominations into and out of the Katy Storage Facility will be adjusted so that Nominations are in balance with respect to such Customer at the end of each Gas Day. If any Customer Nomination is cut because of such default, it will be Customer's responsibility to work with Customer's Designated Pipeline to resolve any imbalance that results on the Designated Pipeline and Customer shall Indemnify Katy from and against any and all Designated Pipeline penalties related to the same.
- 9.3.5 <u>Remedies.</u> With respect to any remedy for any Receipt Default or Delivery Default, notwithstanding any provision in the Service Agreement to the contrary, and in addition to all other remedies available to Katy, Customer will be responsible for

- all charges that accrued before the date of the Receipt Default or Delivery Default as well as all injection or withdrawal charges that would otherwise be applicable to the Default Quantities under the Defaulted Transaction had such Receipt Default or Delivery Default not occurred.
- 9.3.6 Section 14 Remedies. If the Defaulted Transaction is a default by Customer and results in: (i) Customer Inventory remaining in the Katy Storage Facility after the end of a Transaction Period (if the relevant Transaction is for either Storage Service or Parking Service) or (ii) Customer failing to re-Deliver all Loaned Quantities on or before the last Gas Day of the Transaction Period (if the relevant Transaction is for Loaning Service), Katy shall have the continuing option to assert its remedies under Section 14.0.

10.0 QUALITY

- Quality Standards. Except as otherwise provided below, Gas Delivered to Katy at the Receipt Point(s) and all Gas Delivered at the Delivery Points(s) shall conform to the required specifications set forth in Appendix "B", attached hereto ("Required Specifications").
- 10.2 <u>Indemnification for Delivery of Non-Conforming Gas</u>. Customer shall Indemnify Katy against all Claims (including, without limitation, consequential damages, notwithstanding anything in any Transaction Document to the contrary) suffered by Katy to the extent such Claims, damages, and/or expenses arise from Customer's Delivery of Gas not in conformance with the Required Specifications (for purposes of this Section, the "Non-Spec Gas"), whether or not Katy agreed to accept such Non-Spec Gas under Section 10.3.1 below.
- 10.3 Rejection of Gas. Katy may, but shall never be obligated to, accept Non-Spec Gas so long as on a basis that is not unduly discriminatory. The acceptance of such Gas does not constitute any waiver of Katy's right to refuse to accept similarly non-conforming Gas, nor require Katy to receive Non-Spec Gas in the future. If Katy agrees to accept Non-Spec Gas under a Confirmation, Customer shall be allowed to Deliver Non-Spec Gas under that Confirmation, but no other, and Katy will have the continuing right to require Customer to bring its prospective Deliveries under that Confirmation into compliance with the Required Specifications within a specified period of time, as determined in Katy's reasonable discretion.
 - 10.3.1 Upon the Delivery of Non-Spec Gas which Katy has not expressly allowed or which Customer does not bring into compliance in the time period specified by Katy, the Receipt of such Non-Spec Gas may be terminated immediately and notification of such termination may occur after the fact.
 - 10.3.2 Failure by either Katy or Customer to tender Deliveries that conform to the Required Specifications shall not be construed to eliminate, or limit in any manner, Katy's or Customer's rights and obligations existing under any other provision of any Transaction Document.

11.0 ODORIZATION

Katy shall have no obligation whatsoever to odorize, or maintain odorant levels in, the Gas Delivered either by Customer to Katy or by Katy to Customer, unless prescribed by regulation. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in the Transaction Documents, Customer shall indemnify Katy Group against any and all Claims, including consequential damages, whether or not any such Claim arises out of a Claim brought by Customer, Katy and/or any other Person, where liability, loss, and/or damage is suffered by any member of Katy Group as a direct or indirect result of any actual or alleged failure by Customer, Katy and/or any other Person to odorize, not odorize or maintain the odorant levels of such Gas.

12.0 METHOD OF MEASUREMENT

- 12.1 <u>Measurement</u>. Except as provided in Sections 12.2 12.3 below, the measurement of the quantity and quality of all Gas Delivered shall be conducted in accordance with the procedures set forth in Appendix "A", attached hereto and made a part hereof for all purposes.
- Method/Technique. If, at any time during the effective term of the Master Service Agreement to which this Operating Statement applies, a new method or technique is developed with respect to Gas measurement, such new method or technique may be substituted by Katy in the exercise of its reasonable judgment. Katy shall promptly inform Customer of any new method or technique adopted.
- Method of Measurement. Where measuring facilities are installed, owned, maintained and operated by the Designated Pipeline at or near the Receipt Point(s) and/or Delivery Point(s), the method of measurement shall be as set forth in such Designated Pipeline's tariff.

13.0 BALANCING OF QUANTITIES

Customer shall Indemnify Katy from all fees, charges, costs, and penalties that may be assessed pursuant to Customer's transportation agreement with Designated Pipeline for failure to satisfy that pipeline's balancing and/or Nomination requirements, *REGARDLESS OF CAUSE* (but not to the extent caused by Katy's gross negligence or willful misconduct). Customer's payments to Katy for the recovery of such fees, charges, costs, and penalties shall be on an as-billed basis.

14.0 INVENTORY MANAGEMENT

14.1 <u>Nomination Requirements</u>. Customer shall nominate, as necessary under a Confirmation, (i) withdrawals from Customer Inventory in sufficient quantities to reduce Customer Inventory to zero by the end of the Transaction Period, subject to Customer's MDWQ and RDUQ under the applicable Confirmation, and (ii) injections into the Katy Storage Facility in sufficient quantities to Deliver to Katy at the end of the Transaction Period the Quantity of Gas borrowed from Katy under a Loaning Service Transaction, subject to Customer's RDLPQ under the applicable Confirmation.

- 14.1.1 If, on any Gas Day, in any Month during the Transaction Period of any Transaction, Customer Inventory exceeds Customer's Capacity Demand, Customer shall pay Katy the Overrun Charge.
- 14.1.2 Payment of the Overrun Charge shall not entitle Customer to maintain excess Customer Inventory in the Katy Storage Facility, nor shall Katy's acceptance of such payment constitute a waiver of Customer's obligation to manage its Customer Inventory in accordance with the requirements set forth herein.
- 14.2 Gas Remaining in Storage after Expiration of Transaction Period.
 - 14.2.1 Withdrawal On or Before the End of the Transaction Period. If Customer Inventory with respect to a specific Transaction remains in the Katy Storage Facility on any Gas Day after the end of the applicable Transaction Period, Katy shall have the right, at its sole option, to either (i) charge Customer at the rate stated in Section 14.2.2 below until such Customer Inventory is zero, (ii) to take title to the Customer Inventory under the provisions of Section 14.2.3 below, and/or (iii) to resort to a combination of both such remedies. Katy's election to charge Customer under the provisions of Section 14.2.2 will not prevent it from subsequently exercising its rights pursuant to 14.2.3 at any time such Customer Inventory remains in the Katy Storage Facility after the end of the Transaction Period. Customer's withdrawal rights respecting any Customer Inventory remaining in the Katy Storage Facility after the end of the Transaction Period shall be on an Interruptible basis. Payment of the charges stated in Section 14.2.2 below will not relieve Customer of its obligation to pay Katy for any applicable withdrawal charges associated with reducing Customer Inventory to zero.
 - 14.2.2 <u>Additional Charges</u>. Pursuant to the above-stated provisions of this Section 14.2, Customer shall pay to Katy an amount equal to the Extended Storage Charge related to the Quantity of Gas remaining in the Customer Inventory after the end of the Transaction Period.
 - 14.2.3 <u>Title.</u> Pursuant to the above-stated provisions of this Section 14.2, at Katy's sole option, Customer shall transfer title to Customer Inventory to Katy, free and clear of all liens, encumbrances, and adverse claims of any kind, at a price per MMBtu equal to seventy-five percent (75%) of the Monthly Reference Price for the current Month during which such transaction (i.e., transfer of title) takes place. The transfer of Customer Inventory to Katy under this Section 14.2.3 will not relieve Customer of its obligation to pay Katy for all applicable charges, including charges under Section 14.2.2 that accrued before such transfer.
 - 14.2.4 <u>Force Majeure</u>. If Customer is unable to withdraw all Customer Inventory with respect to a Transaction before the end of the applicable Transaction Period by reason of suspension of withdrawal rights during the Transaction Period caused by Force Majeure or other curtailment of such rights declared by Katy, Customer shall not be required to pay an Extended Storage Charge but shall, as soon as possible after the expiry of such Force Majeure or curtailment period, nominate to remove

all remaining inventories under such Transaction, in accordance with Customer's MDWQ and/or RDUQ, as applicable. The provisions of Sections 14.2.1-14.2.3 are subject to this Section 14.2.4 regarding Force Majeure and curtailment periods, provided, however, that once any such Force Majeure and/or curtailment period is over, Customer shall be given a reasonable time (i.e., the same number of days as Customer's withdrawal rights subject to such Force Majeure and/or curtailment period) to withdraw all Customer Inventory remaining in the Katy Storage Facility, provided, however, that after such reasonable time the terms of Sections 14.2.1-14.2.3 shall once again apply.

14.3 Expiration of Term for Interruptible Loan Service.

- 14.3.1 Failure to Return Gas. If Katy enters into a Loaning Service Transaction with Customer and Customer fails to re-Deliver all Loaned Quantities with respect to such Transaction on or before the last Gas Day of the Transaction Period, Katy will have the right, at its sole option, to either (i) charge Customer at the rate stated in Section 14.3.2 until all such Loaned Quantities have been re-Delivered to Katy or (ii) treat such Loaned Quantities that have not been re-Delivered as a sale of such Loaned Quantities to Customer under the terms set forth in Section 14.3.2 or (iii) resort to a combination of such remedies. Katy's election to charge Customer under the terms set forth in Section 14.3.2 will not prevent Katy from subsequently exercising its rights pursuant to Section 14.3.3 at any time such Loaned Quantities have not been re-Delivered to Katy after the end of the Transaction Period shall be on an Interruptible basis. Customer's injection rights respecting any such Loaned Quantities which Customer attempts to re-Deliver to the Katy Storage Facility after the end of the applicable Transaction period shall be on an Interruptible basis. Payment of charges stated in Section 14.3.2 shall not relieve Customer of its obligation to pay Katy for any injection charges associated with re-Delivering Gas to Katy.
- 14.3.2 <u>Additional Charges</u>. Pursuant to the above-stated provisions of this Section 14.3, Customer shall pay to Katy an amount equal to the Extended Loaning Charge related to the Loaned Quantities that Customer has failed to return to Katy after the end of the Transaction Period.
- 14.3.3 <u>Sale Remedy.</u> Pursuant to the above-stated provisions of this Section 14.3, at Katy's sole option, Katy shall charge Customer for a Quantity of Gas thermally equivalent to the Loaned Quantities at a price per MMBtu equal to one hundred twenty-five percent (125%) of the Monthly Reference Price for the current Month during which such transaction (i.e., assessment of charges) takes place. Katy will reflect such charges to Customer on Customer's next Monthly bill and Customer's Loaned Quantities with respect to the relevant Transaction will be decreased accordingly. The sale of Gas to Customer under this Section will not relieve Customer of its obligation to pay Katy all applicable charges, including charges under Section 14.2.2 that accrued before such sale.

14.3.4 Force Majeure. If Customer is unable to re-Deliver all Loaned Quantities before the end of the applicable Transaction Period by reason of suspension of injection rights during the Transaction Period caused by Force Majeure or other curtailment of such rights declared by Katy, Customer will not be required to pay an Extended Loaning Charge but shall, as soon as possible after the expiry of such Force Majeure or curtailment period, nominate to return the Loaned Quantities under the Transaction, in accordance with Customer's RDLPQ. The provisions of Sections 14.3.1 to 14.3.3 are subject to the provisions of this Section 14.3.4 regarding Force Majeure and curtailment periods, *provided*, *however*, that once any such Force Majeure and/or curtailment period is over, Customer shall be given a reasonable time (i.e., the same number of days as Customer's injection rights were subject to such Force Majeure and/or curtailment period) to re-Deliver all remaining Loaned Quantities, and after such reasonable time the terms for Sections 14.3.1 to 14.3.3 shall once again apply.

15.0 FEES FOR SERVICES

- 15.1 <u>Services</u>. Customer will be responsible for paying all charges related to Services provided under the terms of a Master Service Agreement, including without limitation, the following (as applicable to the Service provided): Demand Charges, Commodity Charges, Excess Nomination Charges, Extended Loaning Charges, Extended Storage Charges, Inventory Charges, Overrun Charges, and Wheeling Charges, each of which will be calculated based on the applicable rates as set forth in the applicable Confirmation.
- 15.2 Such charges will be subject to the maximum rates allowed by the FERC, as applicable, plus taxes, if any, payable on the Services provided by Katy, including, without limitation, tax on any Fuel provided by Customer, and any *ad valorem* or similar tax assessed on Customer Inventory, for which Customer shall at all times be responsible. All references to prices, fees, charges, or other monetary amounts will be in U.S. dollars (USD) unless otherwise expressly provided in the applicable Confirmation.

16.0 FUEL REIMBURSEMENT

- 16.1 <u>Compensation</u>. The two general categories of Fuel usage are: (1) direct Fuel usage, consisting of (a) compression Fuel, (b) dehydration Fuel, and (c) line heating Fuel, and (2) indirect Fuel usage, consisting of Fuel that is consumed on site to (a) generate electricity (b) heat the facility (if any), and (c) lost and unaccounted for volumes, to the extent required for the operation and maintenance of the Katy Storage Facility.
- 16.2 <u>Settlement</u>. Customer shall reimburse Katy for Fuel usage and each Fuel reimbursement charge shall be as agreed upon by Katy and Customer such that reimbursement of Fuel may be paid in kind or in dollars per MMBtu, as set forth in the applicable Confirmation.

17.0 TAXES

17.1 Customer shall (i) be responsible for all taxes and assessments, of any nature, associated with or assessed by any governmental authority in respect of Gas to which Customer holds title, notwithstanding that such Gas may be held in the Katy Storage Facility as of such governmental authority's tax assessment/property reporting date, (ii) pay to Katy all taxes,

levies, or charges that Katy may be required by law to collect from Customer by reason of the Services performed for Customer and for which Katy has not already provided for collection through the rates set forth in the applicable Confirmation, including, without limitation, any and all sales or use tax or similar assessment for goods and services, and (iii) reimburse Katy for all filing and other fees which are payable pursuant to FERC or RRC regulations and which are attributable to Katy's Services for Customer. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in any Transaction Document, Customer shall be responsible for, and shall pay directly, all *ad valorem* taxes payable in respect of all or any portion of Customer Gross Inventory. To the extent permitted or required by applicable law, Katy will report Customer's Inventory as of the property reporting date as Customer Gross Inventory less any Loaned Quantities out on loan to such Customer on that date ("Customer Taxed Inventory"), *provided, however*, that such Customer Taxed Inventory shall never be less than zero. Katy will report Customer Taxed Inventory to all taxing authorities having jurisdiction in accordance with instructions from such taxing authorities.

- 17.2 Neither Party shall be responsible or liable for any taxes or any other statutory charges levied or assessed against any of the facilities of the other Party used for the purpose of carrying out the provisions of a Confirmation.
- 17.3 If any taxes or assessments due and payable by Customer are levied on Katy, Customer agrees to promptly reimburse Katy for such taxes and assessments.

18.0 BILLING AND PAYMENT

- 18.1 <u>Invoice</u>. No later than the tenth (10th) Gas Day of each Month (each, an "<u>Invoice Month</u>") during the term of a Transaction under a Confirmation, Katy shall provide Customer an invoice evidencing the amount due to Katy for Services rendered to Customer during the preceding Month, plus all other amounts properly chargeable to Customer under the terms of the Transaction Documents. All payments shall be made without any deduction or withholding for or on account of any tax.
- 18.2 <u>Payment</u>. Subject to the provision of Section 18.2.1 below, Customer shall make all invoice payments to Katy by wire transfer in immediately available funds to a depository designated by Katy.
 - 18.2.1 Customer shall pay in full the amount stated in the invoice on no later than the twenty-fifth (25th) Gas Day of the Invoice Month; *provided, however*, that if an invoice is sent to Customer after the tenth (10th) Gas Day of a Month, the due date for payment on such invoice shall be fifteen (15) Gas Days after the date Katy places such invoice in the U.S. mail or other delivery service for delivery to Customer. If a payment due date falls on a Gas Day that Katy's designated depository is not open in the normal course of business, Customer shall cause such payment to be actually received by Katy on or before the first Business Day before such due date on which the designated depository is open.

- 18.3 <u>Billing Error</u>. If an error is discovered in any billing, Katy will use its best efforts to adjust such error.
- Billing Disputes. If Customer in good faith disputes any portion of an invoiced amount, Customer shall promptly submit to Katy a written explanation of the basis for Customer's dispute and any available supporting documentation. Customer's notice of its dispute shall be detailed sufficiently to allow Katy to adequately investigate such claimed dispute. Nevertheless, Customer shall pay all amounts that are not disputed in good faith. Customer shall work diligently with Katy to resolve and pay all disputed invoice amounts as soon as possible. Customer shall not be required to pay interest on any invoiced amount which is in good faith disputed in writing by Customer and is ultimately determined to be in error; provided, however, interest shall be due if such amount billed is found not to be in error.

18.5 Failure to Pay Bills.

18.5.1 Should Customer fail to pay Katy all of the amount of any bill when the same becomes due, Customer shall pay Katy interest on the unpaid balance. Interest shall accrue on all unpaid, valid invoice amounts at a rate equal to the lesser of (i) the prime interest rate published by the Wall Street Journal plus two percent (2%) per annum, or (ii) the maximum lawful rate, compounded Daily from the date due until the date payment is actually received by Katy at its designated depository. If at any time payments for Services and payments for interest are both due, any payments thereafter received shall be applied first to all interest payments due, then to the Service payments due in order from the oldest to the most current payments due.

18.5.2 If any bill remains unpaid after the due date thereof:

- (a) In addition to any other rights that Katy may have under the Transaction Documents or at law or in equity, Katy shall have the right, upon giving Customer written notice, to suspend injections and/or withdrawals under any or all Transactions and/or terminate all Transactions. Customer, by its nonpayment in full of all amounts then due within two (2) Gas Days after such notice, shall be deemed to have consented to any and all such suspensions and/or such terminations. Suspension of injections and/or withdrawals under a Transaction will not relieve Customer of liability for capacity charges and deliverability charges which accrue after any such suspension.
- (b) Katy will not suspend injections and/or withdrawals or terminate Transactions as provided in Section 18.5.2(a) above if Customer disputes an invoiced amount in good faith and furnishes to Katy, within two (2) Gas Days after Katy's termination/suspension notice, (i) prompt notice of the basis for Customer's dispute as set forth in Section 18.4 above and (ii) a surety bond or other form of security in an amount and with a surety satisfactory to Katy, in Katy's reasonable discretion, guaranteeing payment of the disputed amount ultimately found properly due to Katy.

Right to Audit. Both Katy and Customer shall have the right at their own expense to examine and audit at any reasonable time (during normal business hours) the books and records (including measurement, billing, and payment) to the extent necessary to verify the accuracy of any statements or charges made under or pursuant to any of the provisions of the Transaction Document(s). Such right shall not extend to accounts and records pertaining to any Transaction or other agreement for Services between Katy and any third party or to any account and records pertaining to Katy's cost of providing Services or the profits thereon. Such right to audit may be exercised within twelve (12) Months following the billing date covering the audited quantities and charges. In the event that any invoice contains incorrect information, such error shall be adjusted within thirty (30) Gas Days after Katy's verification of the incorrectness of such information; provided, however, that any claim by Customer for adjustment of an invoice must be made within twelve (12) Months from the date of such invoice.

19.0 EVIDENCE OF CREDITWORTHINESS AND SECURITY; RIGHT OF SET-OFF

- 19.1 <u>Liens</u>. Katy shall have the right to satisfy any and all amounts due and payable to Katy in a manner consistent with applicable law, including, without limitation, by asserting and enforcing its rights under all applicable liens and security interests held by Katy in Customer Gross Inventory.
- 19.2 <u>Policy</u>. Katy will not be obligated to provide Service and may suspend and/or terminate ongoing Service to any Customer or potential Customer that fails, in Katy's reasonable judgment, to demonstrate Creditworthiness. Customer or potential Customer is aware that:
 - 19.2.1 Katy's credit policy may be amended from time to time without prior notice to Customer;
 - 19.2.2 Katy's credit requirements may vary depending on the Services provided;
 - 19.2.3 Katy reserves the right to set credit limits and to vary those limits from time to time at Katy's reasonable discretion; and
 - 19.2.4 Katy may request additional credit information or an update of existing credit information on an on-going basis during the term of the Master Service Agreement between Katy and Customer, including, without limitation, each time Customer enters into a Confirmation for Services.
- 19.3 Evidence of Creditworthiness. Acceptance of a Service request and/or continuation of Service is contingent upon Katy's completion of a credit evaluation it deems satisfactory in accordance with criteria set forth in this Section 19.3. To enable Katy to conduct such credit evaluation, Customer shall submit the information set forth in Section 19.4 below; to the extent such information is applicable to such Customer. A Customer may be deemed creditworthy if (i) it has an Acceptable Credit Rating; (ii) an Event of Default has not occurred; and (iii) Katy believes, in its reasonable and non-discriminatory judgment, after review of Customer's financial situation based on all information available, that Customer will fully, timely and faithfully perform all obligations under all Transaction Document(s)

and, if applicable, the Customer's Credit Support Provider's guarantee fully secures such obligations and is enforceable by Katy against such Credit Support Provider.

- 19.3.1 "Creditworthy" or "Creditworthiness" shall mean the following:
 - (a) No Event of Default has occurred or is continuing; and
 - (b) The lowest credit ratings assigned, if any, are assigned by one or more S&P or Moody's, as applicable, (i) to Customer's long-term, unsecured, unsubordinated debt is at least BBB- by S&P or Baa3 by Moody's, and if applicable, (ii) to Customer's Credit Support Provider's guarantee fully secures such obligations and is enforceable by Katy against such Credit Support Provider and that such Credit Support Provider will fully, timely, and faithfully perform under the guarantee.

19.4 Credit Evaluation.

- 19.4.1 Customer or Customer's Credit Support Provider, if applicable, will be required to provide the following information to Katy in order to perform its credit evaluation:
 - (a) Customer's Financial Statements.
 - (i) Customer shall provide Katy with copies of its most recent financial statements (i) within one hundred thirty (130) days of its fiscal year end for each year during the term, and (ii) within ninety (90) days after the end of each of the Customer's first three fiscal quarters for each fiscal year. Customer shall have the right to deliver unaudited financial statements in satisfaction of this requirement, as long as audited financial statements are produced in the ordinary course of business and promptly delivered as soon as they are available. In addition, Customer shall promptly provide to Katy other financial information reasonably requested by Katy for purposes of the Transaction Document(s). If the financial information is publicly provided, then the Customer must identify where and how such information may be obtained and provide any further assistance Katy may reasonably need to locate and obtain such financial information.
 - (ii) If Customer does not make available such information as required to be made available under Section 19.4.1, within ten (10) Business Days after a request by Katy, Katy shall have the right to send a written notice demanding that such information to be made available.
 - (iii) All financial information made available under this Section 19.4.1, if not publicly available, shall be treated as confidential information.
 - (b) Such other information as may be reasonably required to by Katy.

- 19.4.2 In the event that Customer cannot provide the information in Section 19.4.1, it shall, if applicable, cause its parent company to provide such information.
- 19.4.3 Katy shall be entitled, without waiving any other right or remedy it may have, to refuse or suspend Services under any Confirmation if Customer or Customer's Credit Support Provider fails to provide information as required in Section 19.4.1 until such information is provided.
- 19.5 Notice of Material Adverse Change. Customer or Credit Support Provider, if applicable, shall promptly notify Katy in writing of the occurrence of any event that would constitute a Material Adverse Change, within five (5) Business Days of the occurrence of such event. A Material Adverse Change may include any change in business conditions which would cause (i) a substantial deterioration of its financial conditions; (ii) a condition of its insolvency; of (iii) the inability to exist as an ongoing business entity. Such conditions would include any chapter of the bankruptcy laws of the U.S., liquidation or debt reduction procedures under state laws, and significant outstanding collection lawsuits or judgments that would affect the business entity's ability to remain solvent.

19.6 Financial Assurances.

- 19.6.1 Katy shall not be required to perform or to continue Service under any Transaction Document on behalf of any Customer which is or has become insolvent, or which, at Katy's request, fails within a reasonable time period to demonstrate Creditworthiness in accordance with this Section 19.6; *provided, however*; that such Customer may receive Service under any Transaction Document if such Party provides Financial Assurances as follows:
 - (a) Within five (5) days of Katy's written request for Financial Assurances, an amount equivalent to three (3) Month (or the duration of the applicable Transaction, whichever is shorter) of estimated fees and Service charges; and/or
 - (b) Within thirty (30) days of such request, an amount equal to (1) in the case of Firm Storage Service, three (3) months (or the duration of the applicable Transaction, whichever is shorter) of Demand Charge(s) at the rate specified in the applicable Transaction; or (2) in the case of Interruptible Services, three (3) Months (or the duration of the applicable Transaction, whichever is shorter) of the Inventory Charge(s) calculated on a one hundred percent (100%) load factor basis, plus the market value (at the time of the request for such Financial Assurances) of any quantities of Gas loaned up to the Customer pursuant to the relevant Confirmation. Regarding Customers who have previously posted security for Gas loaned to such Customer, if the market value of such Gas increases by ten percent (10%) or more, such Customer shall deliver additional Financial Assurances to cover such increase in market value within two (2) Business Days of Katy's request for same.

- 19.6.2 If Customer chooses to provide Financial Assurances in the form of cash (for purposes of this Section, the "Cash Collateral") in the amount set forth above, Customer may earn interest on such Cash Collateral by (i) delivering Cash Collateral to a custodian in the name of the Customer and pledged to Katy pursuant to cash escrow, or account control agreement that is reasonably satisfactory to Katy; or (ii) by directing Katy to hold such Cash Collateral, in which case, Katy must pay Customer interest on such Cash Collateral calculated in accordance with Section 154.501(d) of the Commission's regulations.
- 19.6.3 Cash Collateral is security only and shall not be treated as a prepayment of costs, fees, or other obligations that Customer may owe to Katy. Customer hereby acknowledges and agrees that payment of Cash Collateral shall not relieve Customer of its duty to pay all invoices in full when due. Subject to Katy's right, in its reasonable discretion, to apply the Cash Collateral against any outstanding costs, fees, or other obligations that Customer owes to Katy, Katy will return the Cash Collateral to Customer within thirty (30) days following the completion or termination of the relevant Transaction.

19.7 <u>Lack of Creditworthiness</u>.

- 19.7.1 If Customer fails to maintain an Acceptable Credit Rating or Financial Assurances in accordance with Section 3.2 and Section 19.6 and such failure is not cured within five (5) Business Days following written notice, such failure may be treated as an Event of Default under Section 20.2 and may result in the termination of any and all Transactions.
- 19.7.2 If at any time Katy reasonably determines that Customer is not Creditworthy under this Section 19.7, Katy shall notify such Customer in writing via e-mail, instant messaging, facsimile or some other way agreed upon by both Parties within ten (10) Business Days following its decision and the reasons for such determination.
- 19.7.3 If a Customer does not meet the criteria described in this Section 19.7, then the Customer may request that Katy evaluate its Creditworthiness based upon the level of Service requested relative to the Customer's current and future ability to meet its obligations or the Customer's Credit Support Provider's current and future ability to secure the Customer's obligations.
- 19.7.4 After Katy's receipt of Customer's request for re-evaluation, within five (5) Business Days, Katy shall provide a written response to the Customer's request. Such written response shall include either a determination of Creditworthiness status, clearly stating the reason(s) for Katy's decision, or an explanation supporting a future date by which a re- evaluation will be made. In no event shall such re-evaluation determination exceed twenty (20) Business Days from the date of the receipt of the Customer's Request unless specified in the Transaction Document(s) or if the Parties mutually agree to some later date.

19.8 <u>Right of Set-Off.</u> If a Party (for purposes of this Section 19.8, the "<u>Non-Performing Party</u>") fails to pay in full any amount owing to the other Party (for purposes of this Section 19.8, the "<u>Non-Receiving Party</u>") under any Transaction under the Master Service Agreement within five (5) Business Days after such amount became due, then, in addition to all other remedies available to it under this Operating Statement, the Master Service Agreement, at law, in equity or otherwise, the Non-Receiving Party may set off the overdue amount against amounts otherwise owing by the Non-Receiving Party to the Delinquent Party under the Master Service Agreement or any other agreement between the Parties.

20.0 TERMINATION FOR DEFAULT

- 20.1 <u>Delivery and Receipt Defaults</u>. Except as set forth in Section 20.2 below, Delivery Defaults and Receipt Defaults by either Party shall be addressed in the manner set forth in Section 20.0 of this Operating Statement.
- 20.2 <u>Event of Default</u>. The occurrence at any time with respect to a Party of any of the following events shall constitute an Event of Default with respect to the Party or its Credit Support Provider, such Party:
 - 20.2.1 files, or has filed against it, a petition for bankruptcy or insolvency or for reorganization or arrangement under bankruptcy laws of the United States or under any insolvency act of any state, or a Party voluntarily takes advantage of any such law or act by answer or otherwise;
 - 20.2.2 becomes insolvent (however evidenced) or is unable to pay its debts as they become due;
 - 20.2.3 makes a general assignment for the benefit of its creditors;
 - 20.2.4 seeks or becomes subject to the appointment of an administrator, conservator, receiver, trustee, custodian, or other similar official for it or for substantially all of its assets;
 - 20.2.5 causes or is subject to any event with respect to it which, under the applicable laws of any jurisdiction, has an analogous effect to any of the events specified in clauses (a) to (d) above;
 - 20.2.6 commits actual fraud or willful misconduct in connection with a Master Service Agreement;
 - 20.2.7 fails to make any payment when due under a Master Service Agreement where such failure is not cured within two (2) Business Days after written notice by Katy;
 - 20.2.8 fails to perform any material covenant or obligation imposed upon it under a Transaction Document (or in the case of Delivery Defaults or Receipt Defaults, the Defaulting Party commits several such defaults of a repetitive, consistent and ongoing basis, and, as a result of such defaults, the other Party's benefit of the bargain

- under a Transaction is materially diminished in the Non-Defaulting Party's reasonable judgment);
- 20.2.9 fails to maintain an Acceptable Credit Rating or Financial Assurances in accordance with Section 3.2 and Section 19.6 and such failure is not cured within five (5) days after written notice by the other Party or
- 20.2.10in respect of the Party's Credit Support Provider, such Credit Support Provider fails to perform any material covenant or obligation imposed upon any credit support agreement provided pursuant to a Transaction.
- 20.3 <u>Default Actions</u>. Notwithstanding, and in addition to but not in limitation of, any other provision in any Transaction Document, if at any time an Event of Default has occurred and is continuing Katy shall have the right to take any one or more of the following actions:
 - 20.3.1 refuse to accept any further Deliveries of Gas from Customer or make any Deliveries to Customer and/or otherwise suspend all Services under the Master Service Agreement;
 - 20.3.2 by written notice to Customer, designate a Gas Day not earlier than the Gas Day such notice is effective and not later than thirty (30) Gas Days thereafter, as the Early Termination Date in respect of all Transactions, then outstanding, in which event the provisions of Section 20.3 shall apply and Customer, by its failure to remedy the Event of Default, shall be deemed to have consented to such termination of Service;
 - 20.3.3 draw on, apply or otherwise exercise its rights of realization and enforcement in respect of any Financial Assurances provided by Customer pursuant to Section 19.6;
 - 20.3.4 exercise its rights under any lien held by Katy (whether under Tex. Bus. & Com. Code Ann. §7.209, et. seq., or otherwise by law) on Gas stored in the Katy Storage Facility for Customer's account and apply the proceeds of the private sale of such Gas to satisfy any amounts owing by Customer to Katy under the Master Service Agreement;
 - 20.3.5 exercise any and all rights and remedies in respect of any security interest granted by Customer to Katy;
 - 20.3.6 set-off against any amount owing by Customer to Katy any amount owed by Katy to the Customer under the Master Service Agreement or under any other agreement; and
 - 20.3.7 exercise any other remedies available to Katy under the Operating Statement, the Master Service Agreement, at law, in equity or otherwise.

- 20.4 <u>Termination of Service</u>. If at any time an Event of Default with respect to a Party (the "<u>Defaulting Party</u>") has occurred and is continuing, the other Party (the "<u>Non-Defaulting Party</u>") may, at its option, terminate any or all Transactions by proceeding as follows:
 - 20.4.1 the Non-Defaulting Party shall provide written Notice of Default (by e-mail and/or facsimile, promptly followed by courier or overnight mail) to the Defaulting Party. The Notice of Default shall specifically identify the Event of Default and shall provide notice of the Non-Defaulting Party's intent to terminate the same on a designated date not earlier than thirty (30) Gas Days thereafter (for purposes of this Section, the "Early Termination Date"); thereupon the Defaulting Party shall have five (5) Gas Days to provide advance payment for two (2) months of Service (or the duration of the Master Service Agreement and applicable Confirmation whichever is shorter). The Defaulting Party will then have thirty (30) Gas Days after receipt of such notice to remedy or remove the cause or causes stated in the notice. If within the thirty-day (30) period the Defaulting Party does so remove and remedy said cause or causes of such Event of Default, by good and sufficient means acceptable to the Non-Defaulting Party, on or before the Early Termination Date, then such notice shall be withdrawn and the Transaction shall continue in full force and effect;
 - 20.4.2 If the Defaulting Party does not remedy and remove the cause or causes of such Event of Default within the thirty-day (30) period, then, after any necessary notice to regulatory bodies having jurisdiction (which notice may be given at the same time as the termination notice to Defaulting Party), the Confirmation(s) and Transaction(s) shall be terminated as of the Early Termination Date, provided that notice of termination has not been withdrawn prior thereto, with such termination being effectuated pursuant to the further terms as provided herein;
 - 20.4.3 If termination occurs pursuant to Section 20.4.2 above, any or all Confirmation(s) and Transaction(s) between Customer and Katy then outstanding may be subject to termination as of the Early Termination Date in accordance with the further provisions of this Section 20.4; and any termination of such Confirmation(s) and Transaction(s) pursuant to the provisions of this Section shall be without prejudice to the right of Katy to collect any amounts then due to it for Services rendered prior to the time of termination, and without waiver of any remedy, at law or in equity, to which the Non-Defaulting Party may be otherwise entitled, including, without limitation, the right to off-set any amount owing by the Defaulting Party to the Non-Defaulting Party under the Transaction Document(s) against any amount owing by the Non-Defaulting Party to the Defaulting Party under the Transaction Document(s) or under any other agreement.
- 20.5 <u>Suspension of Service</u>. Notwithstanding, in addition to but not in limitation of any other provision in this Operating Statement or Transaction Document(s) prior to a termination for an Event of Default, upon written notice detailing Katy's reasons for suspension, Katy may suspend Service to any Customer who fails to comply with the terms of a Master Service Agreement. Katy's failure to invoke its rights to suspend or terminate Service at any time shall be construed as a waiver of Katy's right to suspend or terminate Service at

any other time Customer is in breach of the terms of the Transaction Document(s). During any period of suspension and following any termination of Service, Katy shall not charge any Demand Charge. At Katy's option, a termination notice given pursuant to Section 20.4 above may also serve as a notice of immediate suspension under this Section.

- 20.6 Early Termination. In the event Katy elects to terminate Customer's Confirmations and Transactions pursuant to Section 20.3 above, and if the Customer is the Defaulting Party, all of Customer's Service rights may be terminated immediately or on such date as Katy shall determine in its reasonable discretion and any payment obligations relating to the provision of Services not rendered after the Early Termination Date will likewise be terminated; provided, however, that a Firm Storage Service Customer shall remain liable for all Demand Charges, whether accruing before or to be accrued after the Early Termination Date. If Katy is the Non-Defaulting Party, it will have the right to sell any terminated Firm Storage Service to a third party as of the Early Termination Date. If possible, Katy shall attempt to lessen the terminated Customer's Demand Charges by using commercially reasonable efforts to enter into a replacement Transaction for Firm Storage Service with a third party; provided, however, and notwithstanding anything in any Transaction Document to the contrary if Katy is unable to enter into a third-party replacement Transaction on terms satisfactory to Katy in its reasonable discretion, Katy shall be entitled to accelerate all Firm Storage Service Demand Charges which are scheduled to become due after the Early Termination Date and such Demand Charges become so accelerated shall become due and payable immediately upon Katy's notice of such acceleration to Customer. With regard to obligations accruing before the Early Termination Date, Customer will remain liable for all obligations accruing under each terminated Transaction up to and including the Early Termination Date, including but not limited to, all unbilled (or billed but unpaid) Demand Charges, Commodity Charges, Fuel, Excess Nomination Charges, Overrun Charges and all applicable taxes for all Services rendered up to and on the Early Termination Date. Termination of Confirmations and the Transaction thereunder shall be effected as follows:
 - 20.6.1 The termination will occur on the Early Termination Date. All Transactions then outstanding will be terminated as of the Early Termination Date in accordance with these termination provisions and, no further injections or withdrawals of Gas shall thereafter be made under such terminated Transactions.
 - 20.6.2 With regard to Customer's Net Termination Balance in the Katy Storage Facility on the Early Termination Date (with "Net Termination Balance") defined as Customer Gross Inventory less any Loaned Quantities then out on loan to Customer):
 - (a) Customer shall not have any Nomination rights for the withdrawal of the Net Termination Balance from the Katy Storage Facility;
 - (b) Katy shall, subject to Section 20.6.4(c) below, Deliver to Customer the Net Termination Balance on such Gas Days and in such quantities as, in Katy's reasonable determination, there exists Interruptible withdrawal capacity to accommodate such Deliveries; and

- (c) Katy shall not be obligated to Deliver any portion of the Net Termination Balance unless and until Customer has paid to Katy:
 - (i) An amount equal to Katy's then applicable Commodity Rate for withdrawal multiplied by the Net Termination Balance; and
 - (ii) the Net Termination Amount determined pursuant to Section 20.6.4 below, if payable by Customer.
- 20.6.3 All Transactions shall be cancelled and closed out, each at its Current Value (as defined below) as of the Early Termination Date, and a settlement payment in an amount equal to the Current Value of each such Transaction shall be payable (i) by Katy to Customer if the Current Value is negative (except if such negative Current Value is a result of Katy's terminating, liquidating, obtaining, or re-establishing a hedge) or (ii) by Customer to Katy if the Current Value is positive, as applicable.
- 20.6.4 The Current Values of all terminated Transactions shall be set off or aggregated, as appropriate, so that all such amounts are aggregated and/or netted to a single liquidated amount (for purposes of this Section, the "Termination Amount") payable by one Party to the other. Katy shall give Customer notice (for purposes of this Section, the "Termination Amount Notice") of the amount of the Termination Amount, including a statement showing its calculation, together with the following additional amounts, if any, but without duplication (such Termination Amount, together with the following additional amounts, the "Net Termination Amount"):
 - (a) the aggregate charges (whether or not invoiced or yet overdue) owing by Customer for Services provided by Katy to Customer under all Transactions hereunder and under any other agreements prior to the Early Termination Date;
 - (b) any other amounts outstanding under any other agreements; and
 - (c) all reasonable out-of-pocket expenses including, without limitation, legal fees incurring by the Non-Defaulting Party by reason of the enforcement and protection of its rights under the terminated Master Service Agreement and applicable Confirmation.
- 20.6.5 No further payments, Deliveries, or Services under the terminated Confirmations will thereafter be required, except with regard to obligations accruing before the Early Termination Date if not already included in Net Termination Amount, including without limitation, a Customer's obligation to return Loaned Quantities under a Loaned Service Transaction if the Transaction Period has ended but the Customer has not yet re-Delivered the Gas and *provided*, *however*, that the cancellation of the Confirmations and Transactions thereunder shall not prejudice any other right or obligation under the Transaction Document(s).

- 20.6.6 The Net Termination Amount (and, if applicable, all other amounts set off against or aggregated therewith) shall be paid by the close of business on the second (2nd) Business Day following the Early Termination Date.
- 20.7 "Current Value" means, with respect to one or more cancelled Confirmations, the amount of Katy's total losses and costs (or gain, which shall be expressed as a negative number) in connection with the cancellation of the Transactions thereunder, including without limitation, any loss of bargain, cost of funding and/or, at the election of Katy but without duplication, loss or cost incurred as a result of terminating, liquidating, obtaining, or reestablishing any hedge (or any gain resulting from any of them, which shall be expressed as a negative number), as determined by Katy acting reasonably and in good faith.
- 20.8 Financial Assurances. Notwithstanding, and in addition to but not in limitation of, any other provision in this Operating Statement or any other Transaction Document, if at any time an Event of Default by Customer has occurred and is continuing, Katy shall have the right to exercise its rights and remedies in respect of any Financial Assurances provided by Customer and to exercise its rights and remedies in respect of any lien or security interest held by Katy on Gas stored in the Katy Storage Facility for Customer's account, and to apply the proceeds of the private sale of such Gas to satisfy any and all amounts owing by Customer to Katy under any Transaction Document. To the extent that any Customer Inventory exists on the Early Termination Date, Katy's termination notice rendered in accordance within this Section 20.0 shall be deemed sufficient notice for all purposes, including, without limitation, for Chapters 7 and 9 of the Texas Business and Commerce Code or any other version of the Uniform Commercial Code (or similar law) as adopted in any relevant jurisdiction.
- 20.9 <u>Insufficient Proceeds</u>. In the event that the Customer Inventory in the Katy Storage Facility is liquidated and the proceeds therefrom are insufficient to satisfy all outstanding payment obligations due to Katy under the terminated Confirmation (and/or any other Transaction Document), Customer will remain liable for all such outstanding and unsatisfied obligations that exceed the proceeds of such liquidation, including interest thereon, and Katy shall be entitled to pursue all other remedies available to it at law or in equity to secure the satisfaction of such obligations.
- 20.10 <u>No Waiver of Other Rights</u>. Each Party's rights under this Section 20.0 are in addition to, and not in limitation or exclusion of, any and all other rights that a Party may have (whether by agreement, operation of law, or otherwise).

21.0 FORCE MAJEURE

21.1 <u>Effect of Force Majeure.</u> In the event that either Party is rendered unable, wholly or in part, by reason of Force Majeure, as defined herein, to perform any obligation under any Transaction Document, that Party shall be entitled, unless otherwise provided to the contrary in such Transaction Document(s), to claim suspension of that obligation for the duration of the Force Majeure. Nothing in any Transaction Document shall obligate Katy to add compression at the Katy Storage Facility in order to remedy a Force Majeure.

- 21.2 <u>Notice of Force Majeure</u>. When a Party has properly claimed suspension of an obligation pursuant to Section 21.1 above, that Party shall be relieved of its commitment to perform that obligation to the extent and for the period of time that the Force Majeure restrains such Party's performance of such obligation, provided that such Party:
 - 21.2.1 provides written notice to the other Party setting out the details of the Force Majeure as soon as reasonably possible after the commencement of such Force Majeure;
 - 21.2.2 takes reasonable measures that are commercially feasible under the circumstances to mitigate the cause and effect of the Force Majeure;
 - 21.2.3 as soon as reasonably possible, gives notice to the other Party of the date upon which the Force Majeure is expected to conclude; and
 - 21.2.4 recommences performance of its obligation to the extent reasonably possible during and on the conclusion of the Force Majeure.
- 21.3 <u>Pay/Credit Demand Charge</u>. If Force Majeure claimed by Katy (other than pursuant to Section 21.4) prevents Katy from fully performing its obligations in response to a Nomination for injection or withdrawal of Gas, then for so long as and to the extent that Katy is so restrained, the Demand Charges payable by Customer for Firm Storage Service will be reduced proportionately.
- Nature of Force Majeure. The term "Force Majeure" as employed herein shall mean any 21.4 cause whether of the kind enumerated herein or otherwise, not reasonably within the control of Katy, such as acts of God; strikes, lockouts, and industrial disputes or disturbances; inability to secure or delays obtaining labor, materials, supplies, permits, easements or rights-of-way, including inability to secure materials by reason of allocations promulgated by authorized governmental agencies; arrests and restraints of government and people; interruptions by government or court orders; present and future valid orders, decisions or rulings of any government or regulatory entity having proper jurisdiction; acts of the public enemy; vandalism; wars; riots; civil disturbances; blockades; insurrections; epidemics; landslides; lightning; tornadoes; hurricanes; earthquakes; fires; storms; floods; washouts; inclement weather which necessitates extraordinary measures and expense to maintain operations; explosions; breakage; accidents and/or maintenance to plant facilities including machinery, lines of pipe, accidents, and/or unscheduled maintenance of wells or subsurface storage caverns or reservoirs; testing (as required by governmental authority or as deemed necessary by Katy for the safe operation of the facilities required to perform the Services hereunder); any claim of Force Majeure or act or failure to act constituting Force Majeure by any Designated Pipeline that disrupts the transportation of gas to, from or for Katy or Customer; and the making of repairs or alterations to pipelines, storage, and plant facilities including Transporter's pipeline repairs. It is understood and agreed that the settlement of strikes or lockouts shall be entirely within the discretion of Katy, and that the above requirements that any Force Majeure shall be remedied with all reasonable dispatch shall not require the settlement of strikes or lockouts by acceding to the demands of the opposing party when such course is inadvisable in the discretion of Katy. The term "Force Majeure" shall not include financial distress, inability to pay debts when due, insolvency

or bankruptcy. The occurrence of Force Majeure will not relieve either Party of its obligations to make payments when due under any Transaction Document.

22.0 SERVICE CONDITIONS

- 22.1 Unless otherwise specifically agreed to in writing, Katy shall be responsible for only the maintenance and operation of its own properties and facilities and shall not be responsible for the maintenance or operation of any properties or facilities connected in any way with the transportation or storage of Gas.
- 22.2 Katy shall have the right to interrupt the flow of Gas when necessary, including, but not limited to, at least once annually, to test, alter, modify, enlarge or repair any facility or property comprising a part of, or appurtenant to, the Katy Storage Facility, or otherwise related to the operation thereof. Katy shall endeavor to cause a minimum of inconvenience to Customer, and except in cases of emergency, shall give Customer advance notice of its intention to so interrupt the flow of Gas and of the expected magnitude of such interruptions.
- 22.3 Katy shall have the right to interrupt Service without prior notice to Customer in the event actions by any Customer threaten the integrity of the Katy Storage Facility or in the event that immediate or irreparable harm may be caused by Customer's failure to comply with the terms of any Transaction Document. Katy may from time to time purchase or sell Gas on an Interruptible basis as necessary to manage pressure and maintain the integrity of the Katy Storage Facility. The purchase or sale of Gas shall be made on a nondiscriminatory basis.

23.0 TITLE AND RISK OF LOSS

23.1 Customer's Possession and Risk of Loss.

- 23.1.1 Customer shall be deemed to be in control and possession of, and shall have title to, all Gas (i) Delivered by Customer to Katy prior to and including the time of its Delivery to Katy at the Receipt Point(s) and (ii) Delivered by Katy to Customer from and after its Receipt by Customer at the Delivery Point(s).
- 23.1.2 Customer shall bear the risk of loss or contamination of such Gas (i) while the Gas is in the control and possession of Customer or its Designated Pipeline, (ii) resulting from any Force Majeure event described in Section 21.4, and any failure of equipment resulting therefrom, and (iii) resulting from any third party action or inaction, and Customer shall Indemnify Katy from and against any Claims relating to or resulting from any and all such loss or contamination.

23.2 Katy's Possession and Risk of Loss.

23.2.1 Katy shall be deemed to be in control and possession of all Gas (i) Delivered to Katy by Customer after Receipt by Katy at the Receipt Point(s) and (ii) Delivered by Katy to Customer at the Delivery Point(s) prior to its Receipt by Customer at the Delivery Point(s).

- 23.2.2 Katy shall bear the risk of loss or contamination of such Gas while Katy is in control and possession of such Gas, except when Customer bears such risk as set forth in Section 23.1.2 above; *provided, however*, that Katy shall be responsible for any loss or contamination of Customer's Gas resulting from matters described in Section 23.1.2(ii) and (iii) in the event, and then only to the extent, that Katy's negligence contributes to such loss or contamination. In the event of loss or contamination of Gas for which Katy is responsible under this Section 23.2.2, Katy shall have the option, in its reasonable discretion, to either (i) pay Customer for such Gas (at the then current market value as determined in accordance with the applicable Reference Price) or (ii) replace such Gas with an equivalent Quantity of Gas. In no event will Katy's liability for any loss or contamination of Gas exceed the current market value of the Gas at the time of such loss or contamination.
- 23.3 <u>Title</u>. Except in those instances when Katy expressly takes title to Customer's Gas pursuant to its rights under the Transaction Documents or as otherwise allowed by law, Customer shall at all times retain title to all Gas Delivered by Customer to the Katy Storage Facility or otherwise included in Customer Gross Inventory, notwithstanding that such Gas may be commingled with other Gas in the Katy Storage Facility (subject to Section 23.4 below).
- 23.4 Fungible Good, Receipts, and Negotiable Instruments. The Parties acknowledge and agree that Gas which is Delivered to the Katy Storage Facility pursuant to any Transaction Document is a "fungible good" (as that term is defined in Tex. Bus. & Com. Code Ann. § 1.201(17)), and that the unit of Gas is one (1) MMBtu. Customer understands and agrees that any Gas Delivered shall be commingled with all other Gas already or subsequently Delivered and stored at the facility. "Receipts" (as that term is used in Tex. Bus. & Com. Code Ann. § 7.207(b)) shall be based on confirmations of Delivery by the Designated Pipeline Delivering Gas to the facility. Katy will not be obligated to Deliver to Customer the same Gas that was Delivered to Katy by or on behalf of Customer, but shall be obligated to Deliver only such Quantity of Gas as the Customer is entitled to receive from Katy in accordance with the Transaction Document(s). Without limiting Katy's obligation set forth in the immediately preceding sentence, Katy shall be entitled to use all Quantities of Gas Delivered to the Katy Storage Facility for any and all purposes, including, without limitation, for Delivery or transfer thereof to other Customers to satisfy Katy's obligations under Transactions with such other Customers. Customer acknowledges that the Confirmations, Nominations, invoices or any other document issued pursuant to the Transaction Documents are non-negotiable instruments under Tex. Bus. & Com. Code Ann.§ 7.104(b).

24.0 ADVERSE CLAIMS TO NATURAL GAS

24.1 Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in the Confirmation, Customer shall Indemnify Katy Group against any Claim whatsoever suffered by or brought against Katy Group, where such Claim arises directly or indirectly out of any Claim brought by any Person, public or private, asserting ownership of, a Claim to or an interest in the natural Gas tendered by Customer for transportation or storage at, or repayment of Loaned Quantities to, the Katy Storage Facility.

25.0 INDEMNIFICATION

- 25.1 Customer shall indemnify Katy Group against any Claim whatsoever occurring in connection with or relating in any way to any breach of any Transaction Document, that results from or is related to any Claim asserted by any third party, public or private, that is not a party to the Confirmation, where such Claim is suffered by the claiming Person, its partners and/or Affiliates, and/or the officers, directors, partners, shareholders, stockholders, members, managers, employees, agents, representatives, and/or contractors, subcontractors (of every tier) of any of the foregoing, as a result, directly or indirectly, of any breach of any Transaction Document *REGARDLESS OF CAUSE*, provided, however that Katy Group will not be indemnified to the extent of the gross negligence, willful misconduct, or fraud of any member of Katy Group in causing such damage or liability.
- 25.2 Katy shall indemnify Customer Group against any Claim whatsoever occurring in connection with or relating in any way to any breach of any Transaction Document, that results from or is related to any Claim asserted by an third party, public or private, that is not a party to the Confirmation, where such Claim is suffered by the claiming Person, its partners and/or Affiliates, and/or the officers, directors, partners, shareholders, stockholders, members, managers, employees, agents, representatives, and/or contractors, subcontractors (of every tier) of any of the foregoing, as a result, directly or indirectly, of any breach of any Transaction Document *REGARDLESS OF CAUSE*, provided, however, that Customer Group will not be indemnified to the extent of the gross negligence, willful misconduct, or fraud of any member of Customer Group in causing such damage or liability.

26.0 LIMITATION OF LIABILITY

ANY PROVISION OF ANY TRANSACTION DOCUMENT TO THE CONTRARY NOTWITHSTANDING, IN NO EVENT WILL EITHER PARTY EVER BE LIABLE UNDER ANY TRANSACTION DOCUMENT FOR CONSEQUENTIAL, SPECIAL. INCIDENTAL, INDIRECT, PROSPECTIVE, PUNITIVE, EXEMPLARY, OR OTHER SIMILAR DAMAGES, INCLUDING, WITHOUT LIMITATION, LOST PROFITS, LOSS OF OPPORTUNITY OR PENALTIES UNDER ANY OBLIGATION TO A THIRD PARTY, WHETHER SUCH DAMAGES ARE CLAIMED UNDER A BREACH OF CONTRACT, BREACH OF WARRANTY, NEGLIGENCE, **GROSS NEGLIGENCE**, WILLFUL MISCONDUCT, STRICT LIABILITY, OR ANY OTHER THEORY OR CAUSE OF ACTION AT LAW OR IN EQUITY.

27.0 WAIVERS AND NON-WAIVER OF FUTURE DEFAULT

Katy shall have the right to waive any one or more specific defaults by Customer of any provision of any Transaction Document; *provided*, *however*, that no such waiver shall operate or be construed as a waiver of any other existing or future default or defaults, whether of a like or different character. In no event will waivers be granted or denied in an unduly discriminatory manner.

28.0 CHOICE OF LAW

THE TRANSACTION DOCUMENTS WILL BE GOVERNED BY AND CONSTRUED IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE LAWS OF THE STATE OF TEXAS EXCLUDING ANY CONFLICTS OF LAW RULE OR PRINCIPLE WHICH MIGHT REFER CONSTRUCTION TO THE LAWS OF ANOTHER JURISDICTION.

29.0 LAWS AND REGULATIONS

29.1 Katy's Services are subject to all present and future valid laws, regulations, and lawful orders of all governmental entities now or hereafter having proper jurisdiction over such Services and/or facilities used to provide such Services, including, without limitation, all FERC regulations implementing Section 311 of the NGPA. In the event Katy or Customer, by force of any such law, regulation or lawful order which becomes effective at any time during the term of the Transaction Document(s), be rendered unable, wholly or in part, to fulfill its obligations under a Transaction Document (other than to make payments when due), such Transaction Document(s) nevertheless shall continue and shall be deemed to be automatically modified to conform with the requirements of such law, regulation and/or order, subject to the remaining portion of this Section. The intent of any modification will be to retain, to the greatest extent possible, the bargain originally struck between Katy and Customer and, therefore, the Transaction Document(s) shall be modified to the least extent necessary to conform to the relevant laws, regulations, and/or orders. The Master Service Agreement is expressly made subject to any and all tariffs, rate filings, and other regulatory applications made by Katy and approved by any federal or state regulatory body, as such may be amended, modified or restated from time to time. Katy shall have the right to propose to FERC or any other regulatory agency any change in terms of Service as Katy deems necessary at any time, and Customer's Service shall be deemed to include any such change that is made effective pursuant to law, regulation and/or order, without prejudice to Customer's right to protest such change. If the Operating Statement is ever revised, a copy of such FERC-approved, revised Operating Statement will be provided to all Customers.

30.0 ASSIGNMENT

30.1 Neither Katy nor Customer shall assign any Transaction Document without the other Party's prior written consent, which shall not be unreasonably withheld. It shall be reasonable for Katy to withhold consent if (a) the Customer requests consent to assign less than its entire interest in a Confirmation, or (b) if the proposed assignee does not meet Katy's credit requirements as described in this Operating Statement. Notwithstanding anything in this Section or in any Transaction Document to the contrary, either Party may assign, without the other Party's consent, any of its rights under the Transaction Document(s) to an Affiliate; *provided, however*, that the Party so assigning its rights shall not be released from its obligations under such Transaction Document(s). Any assignment of any Transaction Document shall be accomplished in accordance with the "Assignment" and "Transfer" provisions of the relevant Master Service Agreement.

31.0 DESCRIPTIVE HEADINGS

31.1	The descriptive headings of the provision and used for convenience only and construction of any such provision.	ons of shall	the T	Гran be	saction deemed	Doci to	ıment(affect	s) are the	e formul meaning	ated g or

APPENDIX "A"

METHOD OF MEASUREMENT / MEASUREMENT EQUIPMENT

A. METHOD OF MEASUREMENT

- 1. Unit of Measurement
 - (a) The unit of measurement for the purpose of Receipt and Delivery of natural Gas for transportation or storage shall be one (1) MMBtu.
 - (b) The unit of volume for the purpose of measurement shall be one (1) Mcf at a pressure of fourteen and sixty-five hundredths pounds per square inch absolute (14.65 psia) and at a temperature of sixty degrees Fahrenheit (60° F) and the readings and registrations of the metering equipment shall be computed into such unit of volumes as well as MMBtus.

2. Basis

- (a) All orifice meter volumes shall be computed in accordance with the Gas Measurement Committee Report No. 3 of the American National Standards Institute / American Petroleum Institute (ANSI/API) 2530 dated August 1992 (hereafter referred to as "AGA Report No. 3") as reprinted and revised from time to time. If positive displacement, ultra sonic flow or turbine meters are used, measurement shall be performed in accordance with AGA 7 as currently available and with any subsequent amendments thereof accepted and agreed upon between the parties.
- (b) All orifice meter volumes shall be corrected for deviations from the ideal Gas laws (supercompressibility) in accordance with the American Gas Association Par Research Project NX-19 Committee Report or AGA 8, 2003 or AGA 9, 2007, or AGA 11, 2003 detailed or gross or the current accepted standard if mutually agreed upon. Where displacement meters are used, the square of the orifice meter supercompressibility factor shall be applied.
- (c) For the purpose of measurement, the average absolute atmospheric pressure shall be assumed to be 14.65 pounds per square inch.
- 3. Determination of Flowing Temperature The temperature of the Gas flowing through a meter station shall be obtained by the use of a recording thermometer. The temperature of the Gas during the measurement period shall be used in computing the Quantities of Gas Delivered during such period.
- 4. Chromatographic Analysis The Heating Value and the specific gravity shall be determined by on-line chromatographic analysis of the Gas stream. The values of the physical constants for the Gas compounds and the procedure for determining

the gross Heating Value and/or the specific gravity of the Gas from them shall be as set forth in the referenced AGA Report No. 3.

B. MEASUREMENT OF EQUIPMENT

- 1. Installation and Operation of Measuring Facilities All measuring facilities shall be installed (if necessary), owned, maintained, and operated, at or near the Receipt Point(s) and Delivery Point(s), by Katy. Where used, orifice meters shall employ flange taps and shall be installed and operated in accordance with the referenced AGA Report No. 3.
- 2. Non-interference Measuring equipment applying to or affecting Deliveries shall be installed with reasonable care so as to permit an accurate determination of the Quantity of Gas Delivered and ready verification of the accuracy of measurement. Katy (and, if applicable, Customer) shall exercise reasonable care in the installation, maintenance and operation of check measuring or pressure regulating equipment so as to prevent, to the extent practicable, any inaccuracy in the determination of the Quantity of Gas being measured.
- 3. Calibration and Test of Measurement Equipment The accuracy of the measuring equipment, shall be verified at reasonable intervals but not more often than is found necessary in practice. The accuracy of chromatographs shall be verified at least once every thirty (30) Gas Days.
- 4. Correction of Meter Errors If, upon testing, the measuring equipment is found to be in error by not more than two percent (2%), previous recordings of such equipment shall be considered accurate in computing Deliveries, but such equipment shall be adjusted at once to record accurately. If, upon testing, the measuring equipment shall be found to be inaccurate by an amount exceeding two percent (2%), at a recording corresponding to the average hourly rate of flow for the period since the last preceding test, then any previous recordings of such equipment shall be corrected to zero error for any period which is known definitely or agreed upon, but in the case of the period is not known or agreed upon, such correction shall be for a period extending over one-half of the time elapsed since the last test, not exceeding a correction period of sixteen (16) Gas Days.
- 5. Failure of Meter In the event a meter is out of service or registering inaccurately, the Quantity of Gas Delivered shall be determined:
 - (a) By correcting the error if the percentage of error is ascertainable by calibration, tests or mathematical calculation, or in the absence of such possible method of determining Deliveries as set forth in Section 5(a); then
 - (b) By using the registration of any check meter or meters, if installed, and accurately measuring; or in the absence of both possible methods of determining Deliveries as set forth in Section 5(a) and 5(b); then

- (c) By estimating the Quantity of Gas Delivered as the same Quantity of Gas Delivered during previous periods under similar conditions when the meter was registering accurately.
- 6. Electronic Flow Computers A computer, transducer and other associated sensing equipment that meets generally accepted industry standards and practices will be installed by Katy and used for purposes of measurement in lieu of mechanical measuring equipment with charts. The values for gross Heating Value and specific gravity shall be entered as real-time data if that data is available. The values for carbon dioxide and nitrogen used in supercompressibility correction determinations shall be entered as real-time data if that data is available or shall be entered manually, but at least once each six (6) Months.
- 7. Where measuring facilities are installed, owned, maintained and operated by third party pipelines, at or near the Receipt Point(s) and Delivery Point(s) then reference is made to the applicable third party pipeline's tariff with regard to measurement equipment.

APPENDIX "B"

OUALITY REOUIREMENTS

Except as otherwise provided below, all natural Gas Delivered to Katy at Receipt Point(s) and all natural Gas Delivered by Katy at the Delivery Point(s) shall conform to the following specifications:

- 1. Oxygen The oxygen content shall not exceed ten parts per million (10 ppm) by volume of uncombined oxygen and every reasonable effort shall be made to keep the Gas Delivered free of oxygen;
- 2. Liquids The Gas shall be free of water and hydrocarbons in liquid form at the temperature and pressure at which the Gas is Delivered. The Gas shall in no event contain water vapor in excess of seven (7) pounds per million standard cubic feet;
- 3. Hydrogen Sulfide The Gas shall not contain more than two (2) grains of total sulphur per one hundred (100) cubic feet.
- 4. Total Sulphur The Gas shall not contain more than two (2) grains of total sulphur per one hundred (100 cubic feet;
- 5. Carbon Dioxide The Gas shall not have a carbon dioxide content in excess of two percent (2%) by volume;
- 6. Dust, Gums, and Solid Matter The Gas shall be commercially free of objectionable odors, dust, gums, and gum forming constituents, solid matter, and any other substance which interferes with the merchantability of the Gas, or causes interference with the proper and safe operation of the pipelines, meters, regulators and other facilities through which it will flow;
- 7. Heating Value The Gas shall contain an average heating content of not less than nine hundred fifty (950) Btus per cubic foot or more than eleven hundred (1,100) Btus per cubic foot;
- 8. Temperature The Gas shall be Delivered at temperatures not in excess of one hundred twenty degrees Fahrenheit (120° F), nor less than forty degrees Fahrenheit (40° F);
- 9. Nitrogen The nitrogen content of the Gas shall not exceed three percent (3%) by volume. Total inerts (N2 +CO2 + etc.) shall not exceed four percent (4%) by volume;
- 10. Hydrogen The Gas shall contain no carbon monoxide, halogens, or unsaturated hydrocarbons, and no more than four hundred parts per million (400 ppm) by volume of hydrogen; and

11.	Neopentane – The Gas shall contain not more than two-tenths (0.2) gallons of neopentane or heavier liquefiable hydrocarbons per Mcf.							